Amyloid Aggregates: Detection and Interaction

M. Mahafuzur Rahman

Department of Molecular Sciences Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2018 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2018:58

Cover: Illustration of interactions between amyloid- β protofibril (spheres molecule in the middle, white-gray) and proteins (surrounding molecules, presented with different color) in human biofluid. (credit: C. Lendel)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-256-9 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-257-6 © 2018 M. Mahafuzur Rahman, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2018

Amyloid Aggregates: Detection and Interaction

Abstract

The research on protein aggregation and amyloid formation is motivated by the fact that amyloid formation in tissue is harmful and associated with several debilitating diseases including Alzheimer's disease (AD) and systemic amyloidosis such as transthyretin (ATTR) amyloidosis. Nevertheless, their beneficial roles in Nature have recently been identified, and artificial self-assembling of amyloid structure for various applications are emerging. In this thesis, disease-related amyloid aggregates were studied with a focus on their detection and interactions with other proteins in biofluid. Also, the usefulness of functionalized self-assembled amyloid structure as a detection system for pathological amyloid is investigated.

New affinity proteins based on Affibody molecules were developed targeting stable protofibrils formed by an engineered version of amyloid- β (A β) peptide, called A β_{42} CC. The developed affinity proteins also recognize protofibrils of wild-type A β_{42} , and showed selective binding to protofibrils over other aggregated forms of A β . Binding kinetics of these new binders to A β_{42} CC protofibrils were determined. These proteins have potential to be used in diagnostic or even therapeutic applications.

An enhanced method was developed for the detection of small ATTR aggregates. A nanofibril, which was functionalized with the antibody-binding Z domain was the new molecule in the improved method. The efficiency of the new method for sensitive detection of ATTR aggregates was studied. The result of this study was very encouraging and could potentially be used in the future for high sensitivity detection of ATTR aggregates.

The potential interactions of A β_{42} CC protofibrils and A β_{42} wt fibrils with other proteins in serum and cerebrospinal fluid from patients with AD and non-AD were studied. More than hundred proteins with diverse functionality were identified to bind to A β_{42} CC protofibrils and A β_{42} wt fibrils. It was shown that different A β conformations have a distinct set of binding partners, and the binding is enhanced upon aggregation of A β . Many of the identified proteins may have potential as AD biomarkers.

In conclusion, this thesis has developed new research tools and a methodology to detect amyloid aggregates as well as studied potential interactions of these aggregates with other proteins, which could advance our understanding about protein aggregation and disease.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, amyloid, detection, functional amyloid, interaction, protein aggregation, transthyretin.

Author's address: M. Mahafuzur Rahman, Department of Molecular Sciences, SLU, P.O. Box 7015, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden. E-post: mahafuzur.rahman@slu.se

To my parents

Contents

List of publications			
Abb	reviations	11	
1	Introduction	13	
2	The amyloid fold of proteins	17	
2.1	Characteristics of amyloid	17	
2.2	Amyloid—what they do	18	
2.3	Mechanism of amyloid fibril formation		
2.4	Polymorphism of amyloid fibril	21	
3	Amyloid in disease pathology	23	
3.1	Alzheimer's disease	23	
	3.1.1 A BPP metabolism and the A B peptide	24	
	3.1.2 Aβ aggregation and neurotoxicity	26	
	3.1.3 Studies of soluble Aβ aggregates	27	
	3.1.4 Aβ-associated proteins and AD	30	
	3.1.5 Diagnosis and treatment of AD	30	
3.2	Transthyretin amyloidosis	31	
	3.2.1 Structure of TTR	32	
	3.2.2 ATTR fibrillation	32	
	3.2.3 ATTR-derived amyloidoses	33	
	3.2.4 Diagnosis and therapies for ATTR amyloidosis	34	
4	Beneficial roles of amyloid	35	
4.1	Beneficial formation of amyloid in Nature	35	
4.2	Functionalization of amyloid	37	
	4.2.1 Antibody-binding nanofibrils	37	
5	Present investigations	39	
5.1	Scope of this thesis	39	
5.2	Methodological considerations	39	
	5.2.1 Surface plasmon resonance (paper I, III and IV)	40	

	5.2.2	Immunoassay (paper II)	40	
	5.2.3	Protein pull-down assay (paper III and IV)	41	
5.3	New affinity proteins to detect Aβ protofibrils (paper I)			
	5.3.1	Selection and validation	43	
	5.3.2	Binding kinetics of Aβpf-binders to protofibril	45	
	5.3.3	Binding topology	46	
	5.3.4	Conclusions	46	
5.4	Devel	opment of method for sensitive detection of ATTR aggregates		
	(pape	r II)	47	
	5.4.1	Signal enhancement in microplate immunoassay	47	
	5.4.2	Enhanced signal in immunolabeling of ex-vivo tissue	49	
	5.4.3	Conclusions	50	
5.5	Identification of A β interactome in biofluid (paper III and IV)			
	5.5.1	Aβ sequesters numerous proteins in biofluid	50	
	5.5.2	$A\beta$ species higher in order of aggregation binds more proteins	53	
	5.5.3	Validation of protein binding to different $A\beta$ conformations	54	
	5.5.4	Comparison of protofibrillar and fibrillar Aß binding-proteins	55	
	5.5.5	Conclusions	55	
5.6	Concl	uding remarks	56	
Refer	ences		59	
Popular science summary 6				
Acknowledgements 7				

List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Elisabet Wahlberg*, M. Mahafuzur Rahman*, Hanna Lindberg, Elin Gunneriusson, Benjamin Schmuck, Christofer Lendel, Mats Sandgren, John Löfblom, Stefan Ståhl, Torleif Härd (2017). Identification of proteins that specifically recognize and bind protofibrillar aggregates of amyloid-β. *Sci Rep*, vol. 7 (1), pp. 5949.
- II M. Mahafuzur Rahman, Benjamin Schmuck, Henrik Hansson, Gunilla T. Westermark, Torleif Härd, Mats Sandgren (2018). Enhanced detection of pathological ATTR aggregates using a nanofibril-based assay. *Manuscript*.
- III M. Mahafuzur Rahman, Henrik Zetterberg, Christofer Lendel, Torleif Härd (2015). Binding of human proteins to amyloid-β protofibrils. ACS Chem Biol, vol.10 (3), pp. 766–774.
- IV M. Mahafuzur Rahman, Gunilla T. Westermark, Henrik Zetterberg, Torleif Härd, Mats Sandgren (2018). Protofibrillar and fibrillar amyloid β-binding proteins in cerebrospinal fluid. *JAD*, DOI 10.3233/JAD-180596, E-pub ahead of print.

Papers I, III, and IV are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

* These authors contributed equally to this work.

Other scientific contribution, not included in the thesis

V Anatoly Dubnovitsky, Anders Sandberg, M. Mahafuzur Rahman, Iryna Benilova, Christofer Lendel, Torleif Härd (2013). Amyloid-β protofibrils: Size, morphology and synaptotoxicity of an engineered mimic. *PLoS One*, vol. 8 (7), pp. e66101.

The contribution of M. Mahafuzur Rahman to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Experimental work and design including protein production, aggregate formation, affinity capture assay, SPR kinetics assay and data analyses, and taking part in writing.
- II Planning of the project together with co-authors, experimental work and wrote the first version of the manuscript.
- III Designing the project together with C. Lendel. All experimental work and data analysis except mass spectrometry, and participated in the writing of the manuscript.
- IV Planning and performing the experimental work, data analysis and writing the first version of the manuscript.

Abbreviations

α-Syn	α Synuclein
3D	Three-dimensional
Αβ	Amyloid β
ΑβΡΡ	Amyloid β protein precursor
Ab-bNF	Antibody-binding nanofibril
ABD	Albumin binding domain
AD	Alzheimer's disease
AFM	Atomic force microscopy
AICD	AβPP intracellular domain
ApoE	Apolipoprotein E
ATTR	Transthyretin amyloidosis
ATTRwt	Wild-type ATTR amyloidosis
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay
GO	Gene ontology
hATTR	Hereditary ATTR amyloidosis
HPA	Human protein atlas
IAPP	Islet amyloid polypeptide
NFTs	Neurofibrillary tangles
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy
p-tau	Hyperphosphorylated tau
PAI	Peptide abundance indices
PD	Parkinson's disease
PET	Positron emission tomography
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SpA	Staphylococcal protein A
SPR	Surface plasmon resonance

Transmission electron microscopy
Thioflavin T
Transthyretin
TTR antibody bound to Ab-bNF

1 Introduction

Life is a fine-tuned complex biological system and more than 200 different cell types interact and make up the human body. A cell comprises several different biomolecules, and *nucleic acids* and *proteins* are two of the four major macromolecules. The nucleic acids, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) and ribonucleic acid (RNA) store and transfer all information required for the synthesis of a protein. Proteins are the most versatile biomolecules in living organisms and they perform a large variety of functions including metabolism, processing, storage and transport of other molecules as well as providing structure and mechanical support (Lehninger et al., 1992, Berg et al., 2002). A protein consists of amino acids linked together via peptide bonds into a polypeptide chain, and the unique order of the amino acids defines the primary structure of the molecules. The polypeptide chain folds upon itself and forms secondary structural elements, α -helix and β -sheet. These elements are further organized to produce the three-dimensional (3D) protein structure, the tertiary and quaternary structure.

Proteins are synthesized on ribosomes using information encoded by mRNA, and these proteins must subsequently fold into their unique 3D structure in order to function (Fig. 1.1, top panel) (Tyedmers et al., 2010). It is generally accepted that the necessary information needed for the proper folding of a protein lies in its primary structure. This is known as the thermodynamic hypothesis of protein folding, and was established through a series of experiments performed by Anfinsen and colleagues in the 1950s (Anfinsen et al., 1954, Anfinsen et al., 1955). As tribute to his work Anfinsen was awarded the 1972 Nobel Prize in Chemistry (Anfinsen, 1973). However, in the crowded cellular environment, a newly synthesized polypeptide faces several challenges including environmental stress, mutation or translational errors that increase the risk of misfolding and aggregation. To avoid this situation, the cell has evolved an advanced protein quality control machinery, which is comprised of a specialized group of proteins referred to as molecular chaperones. Chaperones, also known as heat shock

proteins (HSPs), have the capacity to assist folding of the newly synthesized protein as well as enable partially misfolded protein to refold into its correct 3D conformation and thereby gain functional activity (Fig. 1.1). About 20-30% of proteins synthesized in a mammalian cell need chaperone assistance to adopt the correct conformation (Hartl et al., 2011).



Degradation

Figure 1.1 Upon release from the translation machinery, the nascent polypeptide folds into native conformation, when necessary with the assistance from chaperones, and subsequently form the higher order structures (top panel). However, due to environmental stress or other reasons, the newly synthesized protein can be misfolded. The misfolded protein can either be degraded by the cellular degradation system or refold into its native conformation through chaperone machinery. If the cellular quality control is insufficient and refolding or degradation fails, the partially misfolded and misfolded proteins can form either amorphous aggregates or a highly ordered structural conformation called amyloid. The amorphous aggregates and pre-amyloid aggregates may be disaggregated or degraded. Figure modified from refs. Tyedmers et al., 2010, Hartl et al., 2011.

In addition, the cell uses an extensive proteostasis network, composed of several hundred proteins that are responsible for trafficking, disaggregation, and proteolytic cleavage. Prior to clearance, misfolded proteins undergo ubiquitination that directs them to the proteasome and subsequent degradation (Ciechanover and Schwartz, 2002, Glickman and Ciechanover, 2002), while aggregated proteins are ubiquitinated and degraded through aggrephagy, a

selective form of macroautophagy (Yamamoto and Simonsen, 2011). However, in certain scenario the proteostasis network may be insufficient or malfunctioning, and misfolded proteins deposit in the intracellular or extracellular compartment. Misfolded proteins that escape degradation can adopt a highly ordered fibrillar conformation rich in β -sheet known as *amyloid* (Fig. 1.1, bottom panel).

The deposition of amyloid in tissue have severe consequences and is involved in several debilitating diseases including Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. However, not all amyloid structures are harmful, some have a useful biological function and are termed *functional amyloid*. Also, amyloid structures can be functionalized with desired function.

Detection of disease-related amyloid aggregates and examination of the interaction of such aggregates with other proteins is the focus of this thesis. The usefulness of functionalized amyloid in the pathological amyloid detection systems is also investigated.

2 The amyloid fold of proteins

The term amyloid was first introduced in 1854 by the German physician Rudolf Virchow, and is derived from the Latin *amylum* and the Greek *amylon* that means cellulose or starch-like. Nevertheless, in 1859 Friedreich and Kekule demonstrated that the composition of amyloid was not carbohydrate, but proteinaceous (reviewed in ref. Sipe and Cohen, 2000). In the following sections, the general characteristics of amyloid, the beneficial and the harmful roles of amyloid, how amyloid is formed, and polymorphisms of amyloid will be discussed.

2.1 Characteristics of amyloid

Amyloid is characterized by a *fibrillar* morphology, typical structural $cross-\beta$ sheet conformation, and affinity for specific dyes (Divry and Florkin, 1927, Cohen and Calkins, 1959, Eanes and Glenner, 1968). Amyloid fibrils found in tissue deposits (Fig. 2.1a) appear as unbranched twisted fibers of ca. 7-10 nm in diameter and up to several microns long when analyzed by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) (Fig. 2.1b) (Cohen and Calkins, 1964) or atomic force microscopy (AFM) (Chamberlain et al., 2000). All amyloid, regardless of which peptide or protein that builds the fibril, share a structural conformation known as cross- β sheet structure, which was first analyzed by X-ray fiber diffraction in 1968 (Eanes and Glenner, 1968). The X-ray fiber diffraction pattern of amyloid fibril shows two reflections, one at 4.7 Å, which corresponds to distance between two neighboring β stand in β -sheet packing and one at ca. 10 Å, which corresponds to β stands within β -sheet (Fig. 2.1c). More recent high-resolution structural data obtained from X-ray crystallography, solid-state NMR, and small angle X-ray scattering complemented well with the X-ray fiber diffraction pattern in which the β -sheet secondary structure is arranged perpendicular to the fibril axis (Fig. 2.1di) through the intramolecular hydrogen bonds between strands in the β -sheet (Knowles et al., 2007). Amyloid exhibit apple green birefringence in polarized light upon binding to *Congo red* (Holder Puchtler, 1962) and an intense fluorescent signal with 440 nm excitation and 490 nm emission maxima upon binding to thioflavin T (ThT) (Vassar and Culling, 1959).



Figure 2.1 Structural features of amyloid. **a**) A micrograph showing amyloid- β deposits stained with Congo red in a section from the brain of an AD patient. **b**) TEM micrograph of an amyloid fibril, produced from synthetic wild-type A β_{42} peptide, showing unbranched twisted character. **c**) X-ray fiber diffraction from amyloid fibrils showing cross- β diffraction pattern. **d**) 3D structure obtained from an A β_{42} fibril using NMR (Luhrs et al., 2005), showing β -sheet packing at atomic level in which β -sheet running perpendicular to the fibril axis (i) and top view of a β -sheet in fibril arrangement (ii). Congo red stained micrograph was kindly provided by Westermark GT, diffraction photograph was adopted from ref. Serpell, 2014 with permission and A β fibril structure was produced using PDB accession no. 2BEG (NMR structure of A β_{42} fibril).

2.2 Amyloid—what they do

A broad range of fatal degenerative diseases arises from the deposition of amyloid in different tissues. At present, a total of 36 peptides or proteins have been identified to form amyloid in human, and each protein is associated with a specific disease (Sipe et al., 2016). A selection of amyloid-forming proteins and associated diseases are listed in Table 2.1.

Peptide/protein ^a	Target organs	Associated disease
α-Synuclein (α-Syn)	CNS	Parkinson's disease, Dementia with Lewy bodies, and Multiple system atrophy
Amyloid-β peptide (Aβ)	CNS	Alzheimer's disease, Hereditary cerebral hemorrhage with amyloidosis
Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoAI)	Heart, liver, ApoAI amyloidosis kidney, PNS, testis, and skin	
Apolipoprotein A-II (ApoAII)	Kidney	ApoAII amyloidosis
Huntingtin exon 1 (HttEx1)	CNS	Huntington's disease
Immunoglobulin heavy chain (AH)	All organs except CNS	AH amyloidosis
Immunoglobulin light chain (AL)	All organs except CNS	AL amyloidosis
Islet amyloid polypeptide (IAPP)	Islets of Langerhans, insulinomas	Type II diabetes and insulinoma
Lysozyme (Lys)	Kidney	Lysozyme amyloidosis
Serum amyloid A (AA)	All organs except CNS	AA amyloidosis
Transthyretin (TTR)	Heart, PNS, eye	SSA, FAP, and FAC

Table 2.1 Examples of peptides or proteins that form extracellular amyloid or intracellular amyloid inclusions in human and their associated diseases.

Table adapted from Sipe et al., 2016.

CNS, Central nervous system; PNS, Peripheral nervous system; SSA, Senile systemic amyloidosis; FAP, Familial amyloid polyneuropathy; FAC, Familial amyloid cardiomyopathy.

Amyloid fibrils are mainly deposited in the extracellular space. However, intracellular inclusion is not rare *e.g.*, A α -synuclein (A α Syn) deposition in Parkinson's disease (PD) and Islet amyloid polypeptide (AIAPP) deposits in islet of Langerhans. Amyloid deposits can occur in a single organ or in multiple organs. When amyloid is deposited in a single organ, it is termed *localized amyloidosis*. In localized amyloidosis, the amyloid protein is synthesized in the organ affected by the deposition. When amyloid is deposited in multiple organs, the condition is termed *systemic amyloidosis* (Sipe et al., 2016). In systemic amyloidosis, the amyloid proteins are mainly produced by the liver or by plasma cells.

Besides humans, animals can also develop amyloidosis. Of the 36 proteins or peptides currently known to form amyloid in human diseases, nine proteins or peptide are also known to form amyloid in animals such as immunoglobulin light chain (AL) and serum amyloid A (AA), which form amyloid in cow, cats, horse and dog (Sipe et al., 2016).

The amyloid structure was first discovered in the context of disease, but not all amyloid structures are harmful and a group of amyloid structures have biological functions. Amyloid with beneficial functions in living systems is known as *functional amyloid* (Fowler et al., 2006). Many organisms ranging from bacteria to human use amyloid structure to gain a variety of functions (Fowler et al., 2007, Knowles and Mezzenga, 2016). For example, curli fibrils produced from the CsgA protein are used by *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) for biofilm formation (Chapman et al., 2002), and fibrils of the Pmel17 protein is involved in mammalian skin pigmentation (Fowler et al., 2006). Notably, in recent years, amyloids have become the center of interest in nanomaterial sciences for functionalization in various technological applications. Amyloid in functional aspect will be discussed in more depth in chapter 4.

2.3 Mechanism of amyloid fibril formation

The amyloid fibril formation process is modeled as a nucleation-dependent polymerization, with three phases: a lag phase, an elongation phase, and a steady state (Jarrett and Lansbury, 1992) (Fig. 2.2, red curve). The native folded state of the protein/peptide needs to be unfolded to form fibril. The fibril formation is initiated by the formation of a nucleus during the lag phase, a thermodynamically unfavored state in the aggregation process. The nucleus has a different conformation than the soluble protein, which is rich in β-sheet structure (Serio et al., 2000), and presumably composed of oligomers although monomer has also been implicated (Eisele et al., 2015). Once the nucleus is formed, monomeric species are rapidly added to the growing polymer and formed aggregates that are more thermodynamically stable (Jarrett and Lansbury, 1993). Fibril growth occurs during the elongation phase. The fibrillation can be catalyzed by secondary nucleation where the surface of preformed fibril or fibril fragmentation act as nucleation sites (Fig. 2.2) (Cohen et al., 2011, Cohen et al., 2013), and dominate the reaction. The lag phase can be shortened or abolished by addition of pre-formed fibrils, so-called seeds (dotted curve in Fig. 2.2) (Jarrett and Lansbury, 1992). The end reaction state is a steady state where the maximum fibril growth has been reached and no monomer species are available to be incorporated into the growing fibril.



Figure 2.2 Illustration of amyloid protein fibrillation pathway. A nucleus is formed during the lag phase, and addition of monomer results in the formation of aggregates, which subsequently grow into mature fibrils. Preformed fibrils or fibril fragmentation may catalyze nucleation and this is called secondary nucleation.

2.4 Polymorphism of amyloid fibril

multiple Amyloid-forming peptides self-assemble into fibrils with morphologies. Unlike the functional structures, the amyloid fibrils have not been under evolutionary pressure to maintain a single thermodynamically stable conformation, which is probably the cause of different fibril morphologies (Pedersen et al., 2006). Polymorphism may arise already during the lag phase of the amyloid fibrillation pathway during which metastable intermediates are formed, and/or within the fibrillar form (Kodali and Wetzel, 2007). In addition, polymorphism can occur at the atomic level, e.g. fibrils formed by the D23N- $A\beta_{40}$ peptide appeared with different atomic structures. The D23N-A β_{40} is known as the Iowa mutation, which is associated with early-onset of AD. Some of the fibrils formed by D23N-A β_{40} exhibit the in-register parallel β -sheet structure, but a majority of fibrils exhibit antiparallel β-sheet packing (Tycko et al., 2009, Härd, 2014). Likewise, structural polymorphism may play important roles in clinical phenotypes and pathology. Indeed, a recent study has

demonstrated differences in disease progressions between two AD patients who displayed distinct fibril patterns in their plaques (Lu et al., 2013).

3 Amyloid in disease pathology

Deposition of amyloid in tissue can be harmful and is associated with numerous diseases. Two such diseases, Alzheimer's disease (AD) and transthyretin (ATTR) amyloidosis will be discussed in the following sections, since they are central to this thesis.

3.1 Alzheimer's disease

AD is the most common cause of dementia and accounts for 60–70% of all diagnosed cases (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). AD was first described by the German psychiatrist and neuropathologist, Alois Alzheimer, in 1906 and the disease was named after him. During a brain autopsy of his 55-year-old patient, Auguste Deter, who had been suffering from progressive memory loss and confusions, he noted the presence of abnormal neuritic plaques around neurons and twisted neurofibrils inside the neuron. These two distinctive pathologies are today known as *amyloid plaque* and *neurofibrillary tangles* (NFTs), the two pathological hallmarks of AD (Alzheimer et al., 1995, O'Brien and Wong, 2011).

The amyloid plaque consists of several proteins of which amyloid- β (A β) is the major one. A β is an enzymatic cleavage product of the *amyloid-\beta protein precursor* (A β PP). A β is produced both in non-AD and AD brains. In non-AD brain, A β peptides are usually degraded, whereas in AD brain, A β accumulates as plaque outside of the neuron. The NFTs are found inside the cells and mainly composed of tau protein. Tau is a microtubule-associated protein in the neuron that interacts with tubulin and promotes its assembly into microtubules and stabilizes the microtubule network (Iqbal et al., 2010). In the AD brain, tau becomes hyperphosphorylated (p-tau), sequesters normal tau and disassembles the microtubules network, and consequently the p-tau forms tangles (Alonso et al., 2001).

AD may develop because of genetic abnormalities; however, the percentage of genetic disorder-related AD is very low (<1%) (Bekris et al., 2010). Mutations in the A β PP may lead to an increased A β production and subsequent AD development. The Swedish mutation, which is a double mutation (KM670/671NL) of A β PP that is known as APPSW, lies adjacent to the β secretase cleavage site and is one example of a mutation that results in an increased generation of AB (Goate et al., 1991, Bekris et al., 2010). Also, mutations in the genes PSEN1 and PSEN2 are linked with early-onset AD. PSEN1 and PSEN2 encodes for presenilin 1 and presenilin 2, respectively; and are subunits of the enzyme γ -secretase, which cleaves ABPP and releases AB (see in the following section). The gene responsible for producing $A\beta PP$ is located on chromosome 21. Individuals with Down syndrome, also known as trisomy 21, have an extra copy of chromosome 21, and is more susceptible to AD since the extra copy of chromosome 21 results in an increased production of Aβ fragments (St George-Hyslop et al., 1987).

Age is the main risk factor for late-onset AD (Fratiglioni et al., 1991), and the disease affect 3% of the people in the age group 65–74, 17% of the people in the age group 75–84, and nearly 50% of the people of age 85 years or older (Qiu et al., 2009). Nevertheless, AD is not a part of normal aging, and age is not itself sufficient to cause AD. A second risk factor of developing AD is epsilon 4 allele of apolipoprotein E (apoEe4) (Saunders et al., 1993). The apoE gene exists in three isoforms, e2, e3, and e4. The function of apoE is to clear or degrade A β , and the e4 isoform is thought to be the least efficient among the three isoforms of apoE. Inheriting the e4 allele confers reduced clearance of A β and an increased risk of developing A β plaque in the brain. The risk may be higher if two copies of e4 are inherited (Strittmatter et al., 1993).

3.1.1 AβPP metabolism and the Aβ peptide

A β PP is a 695–770 residue transmembrane protein with a large extracellular domain, a transmembrane region in which A β is partly embedded, and a short cytoplasmic tail (Fig. 3.1) (Selkoe, 2001). The protein is produced in large amounts in the brain (Lee et al., 2008). The exact functions of A β PP remain unclear. However, it has been suggested that A β PP play vital roles in brain development, neural migration, synaptogenesis and neurogenesis (reviewed in ref. Coronel et al., 2018).

A β PP is proteolytically cleaved by two distinct pathways: *non-amyloidogenic pathway* which does not produce A β , and *amyloidogenic pathway* which produces A β . In the non-amyloidogenic pathway, A β PP is first cleaved by α -secretase within the A β region between residues 16 and 17. This

cleavage releases a soluble extracellular fragment called sA β PP α , while the Cterminus CFT α fragment remain anchored to the membrane. The CFT α fragment is then cleaved by γ -secretase, which generates a non-amyloidogenic short peptide called p3 and an A β PP intracellular domain (AICD). Because the α -secretase cleaves A β PP in the middle of the A β which precludes an intact A β generation (Fig. 3.1) thus the fragment (p3) is non-amyloidogenic (O'Brien and Wong, 2011). α -secretase belongs to the ADAM enzyme family, which have been shown to take part in cell interactive events such as cell-cell fusion (Lammich et al., 1999). γ -secretase is a multiprotein complex made of presenilin 1 or 2, nicastrin, and Aph-1 and Pen-1 (Bergmans and De Strooper, 2010).



Figure 3.1 Processing of AβPP through the non-amyloidogenic pathway involve α - and γ -secretase cleavages with the release p3; and the amyloidogenic pathway involve β - and γ -secretase cleavages, and the release of the A β peptide. The bottom panel presents the A β region in the A β PP. Possible cleavage into A β sequence by different proteases are indicated.

Production of A β via amyloidogenic pathway is initiated by cleaving A β PP with β -secretase (also called BACE1; an aspartic protease) at the N-terminus of A β sequence, which produces in the sA β PP β and CFT β fragments. The subsequent cleavage of CFT β fragments by γ -secretase produces different isoforms of A β peptides while leaving the AICD fragment in the cytoplasm. The most common isoforms of A β are the 40-residue fragment (A β_{40}) and the 42-residue fragment

 $(A\beta_{42})$. $A\beta_{42}$ is more aggregation-prone than $A\beta_{40}$ (Burdick et al., 1992, Jarrett et al., 1993). $A\beta$ is constantly produced from $A\beta$ PP and immediately degraded by enzymes such as neprilysin, insulin degrading enzyme, and endothelin converting enzyme (Wang et al., 2010).

3.1.2 Aß aggregation and neurotoxicity

A β aggregation occurs through two pathways. One pathway involves the formation of low molecular weight oligomers without secondary structure (Hoyer et al., 2008) and subsequent formation of amorphous aggregates that do not convert into fibril (off-pathway, Fig. 3.2). On the pathway to fibrillation, the disordered monomer adopts a β -hairpin conformation as a constituent of soluble oligomers (Hoyer et al., 2008), which further form larger *protofibrils* (Harper et al., 1997, Walsh et al., 1997), and eventually undergo a structural interconversion into fibrils (Fig. 3.2).



Figure 3.2 Illustration of A β aggregation via the off- and on-pathway. Disordered monomer forms low molecular weight oligomers that lack a regular secondary structure, which enters the offpathway and remain as amorphous aggregate. On the on-pathway, disordered monomer first form β -hairpin structure which end up in fibrils through a dynamic intermediates state.

Previously, much attention was given to fibrils found in the brain of AD patients. However, the role of fibrils in AD pathogenesis is debated. The plaque burden in AD brain does not correlate well with the degree of impaired memory and cellular dysfunction (Kayed and Lasagna-Reeves, 2013), and removing the plaque from the brain in an AD mouse model does not revert the observed dysfunctionality (Hardy, 2009). The focus of research has shifted from fibrils towards the soluble *intermediate aggregates* such as oligomers or protofibrils

(Walsh and Selkoe, 2007, Sengupta et al., 2016). It has become evident that these soluble oligomers do correlate well with the severity of disease (Lue et al., 1999, McLean et al., 1999), and are more toxic to neurons than the fibrils (Kuperstein et al., 2010, Benilova and De Strooper, 2013). A variety of soluble aggregates have been identified in vivo and in vitro ranging from dimers-tetramer (Shankar et al., 2008, Klyubin et al., 2008), pentamer and hexamers (paranuclei) (Roychaudhuri et al., 2009), and A β *56 (Lesné et al., 2006). It is thought that the toxicity of soluble oligomers depends on the size of the AB assemblies. An inverse correlation has been proposed between the size of soluble aggregates and the potency of their toxicity (Sengupta et al., 2016). Even the smallest oligomers *i.e.* dimers isolated from the cortex of AD brain were found to be toxic compared to dimers isolated from non-AD brain (Jin et al., 2011, Härd, 2011). However, much of the details about oligomer formation and toxicity remain elusive. New proteins that specifically recognize intermediate aggregates would be valuable tools in basic research as well as in diagnosis and therapeutics. In paper I of this thesis, new affinity proteins with selective binding capacity towards AB protofibrils are developed.

3.1.3 Studies of soluble Aβ aggregates

The biochemical and biophysical studies of soluble $A\beta$ aggregates are very challenging due to the heterogeneity among aggregates and the high propensity of these aggregates to form fibrils. To control the various aggregates state (*i.e.* stabilize it), many methods have been developed including protein engineering, chemical cross-linking, and the use of mixed solvent or detergent (reviewed in Härd, 2011).

In this thesis (*paper I*, *III*, and *IV*), protofibrils formed by an engineered version of A β peptide, called *A\betaCC*, are used. The A β CC model will be discussed in the section below.

The AβCC protofibril—a mimic of wild type Aβ

The A β peptide is predominantly disordered, and does not adopt a unique conformation in solution. However, it has been demonstrated that the A β peptide adopts a β -hairpin conformation (Hoyer et al., 2008). The structure of the A β_{40} peptide in complex with Affibody molecules ($Z_{A\beta3}$; see the following section) was studied using NMR in which A β was observed to adopt a β -hairpin conformation (Fig. 3.3a). The β -hairpin conformation was characterized by antiparallel β -stands formed by residues 17-23 and 30-36 and stabilized by intramolecular hydrogen bonds. The N-terminus of the A β peptide was not well defined in the NMR spectra, and it has therefore been suggested to be disordered.

However, the secondary structure of the A β peptide in A β :Z_{A β 3} complex resembled well with the A β conformation in fibrils (Hoyer et al., 2008).



Figure 3.3 a) The β -hairpin conformation of the A β peptide (in gray) observed in complex with ZA β 3 dimer (in green). **b**) (To the left) A β -hairpin conformation showing that the two alanine residues (Ala21 and Ala30) on opposite β -stands are in close proximate and were subjected to mutations. (To the right) Model of the A β CC variant in which Ala21 and Ala30 have been mutated to Cys21 and Cys30, which creates an intramolecular S-S bond (colored yellow), thereby locking the β -hairpin conformation. The 3D structure of A β :ZA β 3 complex was produced using PBD accession no. 20TK and the structures in panel b was adapted from T. Härd.

In a later study, two cysteines were introduced in the β -hairpin conformation, one at position 21 (A21C) and one at position 30 (A30C). These two cysteine residues form an intermolecular disulfide bond, which locks the β -hairpin conformation (Fig. 3.3b) (Sandberg et al., 2010). The double cysteine variant of the peptide is called $A\beta CC$. The A β CC form oligomers but not fibrils unless a reducing agent is added (Sandberg et al., 2010). It has been demonstrated that the protofibril formed by A β CC is a good mimic of wt-protofibrils as determined by a number of methods including, ThT fluorescence, TEM, AFM, circular dichroism, analytical ultracentrifugation, immunohistochemistry, cell toxicity,

and a structural model based on solid-state NMR and Rosetta modeling (Sandberg et al., 2010, Dubnovitsky et al., 2013, Lendel et al., 2014).

Affibody molecules-a class of engineered affinity proteins

Until 30 years ago, it was believed that the immune system is the only source of affinity proteins *i.e.* antibodies, and remain a primary choice for the detection of specific antigen to this day. However, antibodies have some limitations such as their large size, production complexity, and cost, which has motivated researchers to develop of non-antibody proteins as an alternative. Affibody molecules are a kind of affinity proteins, which originated from an engineered domain called Z domain (see below) of staphylococcal protein A (SpA). SpA is located on the surface of Staphylococcus aureus cells and has five homologous IgG-binding domains, denoted as E, D, A, B, and A, that are capable of binding to the Fc region of antibodies from different species and subclasses (Moks et al., 1986). The B domain was initially engineered with a few modifications to increase chemical stability towards hydroxylamine and to facilitate cloning, and the mutated domain was denoted Z domain (Nilsson et al., 1987). The Z domain is 58-residue (6.5 kDa) scaffold protein with three α -helices that form a bundlelike structure. Its small size, high solubility and easy production, absence of internal cysteine residues, rapid folding kinetics, and high-affinity binding to targets convinced researchers to explore its potentials as future non-antibody affinity protein (Nygren, 2008). So-called Affibodies are the next generation of the Z domain. In 1995, the first Affibody combinatorial library was created by randomizing 13 solvent-exposed residues on helix 1 and 2 of the Z domain scaffold (Nord et al., 1995). After two years, in 1997, high-affinity proteins were isolated from the library using phage display technology (Nord et al., 1997).

During the last two decades, Affibody-based proteins have been designed for numerous targets for use in a variety of applications including in bio-separation (Rönnmark et al., 2002, Hedhammar and Hober, 2007), as detection agents (Karlstrom and Nygren, 2001), as blocking agent or inhibitor (Jonsson et al., 2009, Hoyer et al., 2008), and *in vivo* tissue imaging (Sorensen et al., 2014).

The Affibody $Z_{A\beta3}$ was selected targeting $A\beta_{40}$ peptide and demonstrated to bind $A\beta_{40}$ with high affinity with a K_D of 17 nM (Hoyer et al., 2008, Hoyer and Härd, 2008). Moreover, $Z_{A\beta3}$ acts as an *amyloid inhibitor*, and has been shown to inhibit A β fibrillation by sequestering monomeric A β from A β aggregation solution (Hoyer et al., 2008, Luheshi et al., 2010). Furthermore, it has also been demonstrated that the $Z_{A\beta3}$ dissociates pre-formed aggregates, albeit very slowly, by shifting the dynamic monomer-oligomer equilibrium (Luheshi et al., 2010). In addition, the potency of $Z_{A\beta3}$ to inhibit A β aggregation and to reduce neurotoxicity has also been tested *in vivo* using a *Drosophila* fruit fly model of AD (Luheshi et al., 2010). The proven potency of $Z_{A\beta3}$ has made it an important research tool and has been used in many studies. For instance, the stable $A\beta$ protofibril (described in previous section) was developed by exploiting $Z_{A\beta3}$: $A\beta$ complex. Besides $A\beta$, $Z_{A\beta3}$ -based inhibitors have been developed for other amyloidogenic proteins *e.g.*, the HI18 inhibitor against IAPP aggregation, which is involved in type II diabetes (Mirecka et al., 2016) and AS69 against $A\alpha$ Syn aggregation involved in PD (Mirecka et al., 2014). All studies mentioned above were performed by targeting non-aggregated species (soluble peptide). In *paper I* of this thesis, we have identified Affibody-based affinity proteins targeting the protofibrillar aggregates of $A\beta$.

3.1.4 Aβ-associated proteins and AD

Studies of postmortem amyloid plaques have shown that several proteins *e.g.*, α -1 antichymotrypsin (Abraham et al., 1988), agrin (Cotman et al., 2000), apolipoprotein E (apoE), clusterin and collagen, (Liao et al., 2004), heparin sulfate proteoglycan (Sandwall et al., 2010) and serum amyloid P (Kalaria et al., 1991) are *colocalized* with A β . It is thought that A β interacts with other proteins in human biofluid, which may lead to A β toxicity and the subsequent development of AD. An important part of the work presented in this thesis is focused on identifying the binding partners of soluble pre-fibrillar and fibrillar A β aggregates in human biofluid (*papers III* and *IV*).

3.1.5 Diagnosis and treatment of AD

Currently, no single test can confirm AD. Several clinical tests and assessments are usually conducted for diagnosis of AD. These tests include medical and family history, cognitive tests like mini-mental state examination (MMSE; the most commonly used test), physical and neurological examination to check overall neurological health, and blood test to rule out other potential causes for memory impairments and confusions (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). At present, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) biomarkers, reduced levels of A β_{42} , and elevated levels of total tau and p-tau, have increasingly been used at clinical laboratory for diagnosis AD (Zetterberg and Blennow, 2013, Niemantsverdriet et al., 2017). Also, imaging techniques such as positron emission tomography (PET) is used in research settings and clinical trials. Advanced PET techniques can be used to detect the amount of A β plaque in the brain (Sehlin et al., 2016). However, AD can only be diagnosed with complete accuracy only after death of the patient through a brain autopsy to confirm the presence of amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles.

Today no cure exists for AD. However, some symptomatic treatments are available that delay the disease symptoms. Currently, two drugs-cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine, are approved by the US food and drug administration (FDA). These drugs act by counterbalancing the neurotransmitter disturbances (Yiannopoulou and Papageorgiou, 2013). Cholinesterase inhibitors protects or delay the degradation of acetylcholine, an important chemical messenger, and are prescribed for mild to moderate AD case. For moderate to severe AD, the NMDA receptor antagonist memantine is used (McKeage, 2009). Treatments targeting the pathological entity/reason of disease, referred to as diseasemodifying treatments, are underway for AD where A β is the prime target. Many of these treatments are currently at different phases of clinical trials. Approaches used in such treatments include anti-amyloid strategies, decreasing the production of A β or rapid clearance by inhibiting β - or/and γ -secretase or activating α - secretase, halt or prevent A β aggregation by developing antiaggregating compounds, and removal of toxic AB aggregates, by for instance using active and passive anti-amyloid immunotherapy (reviewed in refs. Yiannopoulou and Papageorgiou, 2013, Folch et al., 2018, Cummings et al., 2018).

3.2 Transthyretin amyloidosis

The transthyretin (TTR) protein was discovered in the 1940s and was initially called prealbumin since it migrates ahead of albumin during protein gel electrophoresis (Kabat et al., 1942). Later the name was changed to transthyretin, a name that reflects its dual functionality—transportation of thyroxine and retinol in the circulation (Robbins, 2002).

TTR is a homotetrameric protein with a molecular weight of 55 kDa, which is predominantly produced in the liver and released into the plasma (Felding and Fex, 1982). Additionally, a small amount of TTR is produced in the choroid plexus of the brain and released into CSF (Weisner and Roethig, 1983, Herbert et al., 1986). Also, the retina of the eye and the endocrine cells of the pancreatic islets are reported to be TTR production sites (Hamilton and Benson, 2001). In healthy individuals, the TTR tetramer functions as a transporter for thyroxin and retinol in plasma and CSF. However, mutations in the TTR can lead to a destabilization of the tetramer, which results in an increased propensity to aggregate and accumulate as amyloid in various organs. The aggregation-prone TTR protein is called ATTR, and the disease is called ATTR amyloidosis.

3.2.1 Structure of TTR

The X-ray crystal structure of human TTR was solved in 1971 (Blake et al., 1971), which revealed a structure with high β -sheet content. A native TTR monomer is composed of 127 amino acids and forms eight β -stands denoted A-H and a small α -helical structure between E and F stands (Fig. 3.4a). The eight β -stands form two β -sheets, the β -stands D, A, G, and H form one β -sheet and the second β -sheet is formed by β -stands C, B, E, and F. The two β -sheets are organized face-to-face forming a β -barrel. Two monomers dimerize through intramolecular extensive hydrogen bonding between H-stands of each monomer. Hydrogen bonds between the F stands are also present, but to a lower extent with only one pair in the dimeric structure. The structure is further organized into a tetramer where two dimers interact through hydrophobic contact involving the loop region between β -stands A and B and β -stands G and H (Fig. 3.4b) (Hörnberg et al., 2000). Assembling two dimers into a tetramer in this manner provides a hydrophobic channel for thyroxin binding. Two thyroxin binding sites are available per tetramer (Fig. 3.4b).



Figure 3.4 Cartoon presentation of TTR structure. (a) Self-assembly of two monomeric units (one colored green and the other gray) into dimer and (b) two dimers into a tetrameric functional unit. Thyroxin binding channel is indicated with dotted arrow. The structures were produced using PDB accession no. 1F41, a model structure of human wt-TTR solved using X-ray crystallography at 1.5 Å resolution.

3.2.2 ATTR fibrillation

It has been well established that the TTR protein becomes aggregation-prone upon dissociation into partially unfolded monomer, which then rapidly selfassemble into oligomers before forming insoluble fibrillar aggregates (Fig. 3.5) (Foss et al., 2005). However, unlike the classical amyloid aggregation pathway (discussed in chapter 2.3), the ATTR aggregation occurs via a non-nucleated mechanism known as downhill polymerization (Hurshman et al., 2004). The dissociation of tetramer into monomers is the rate-limiting step in the aggregation process. Thus, seeding does not accelerate ATTR aggregation as demonstrated by *in vitro* kinetic data (Hurshman et al., 2004, Eisele et al., 2015). Nevertheless, a more recent study has demonstrated that patient-derived amyloid seeds accelerate monomeric and tetrameric TTR fibrillation *in vitro* (Saelices et al., 2018). Conditions that favor TTR dissociation and subsequent aggregation are debated. Some studies have shown that acidic conditions are required for tetramer dissociation and fibril formation (Lai et al., 1996, Lashuel et al., 1999), while others have demonstrated that the fibrillation can occur at physiological pH (Quintas et al., 1997, Quintas et al., 1999).



Figure 3.5 Illustration of ATTR fibrillation, which is initiated by dissociation of native folded tetramer into monomer which are further converted into amyloidogenic monomer. Subsequently, the amyloidogenic monomer assembled into higher ordered aggregates en route to fibril.

3.2.3 ATTR-derived amyloidoses

ATTR amyloidosis exits in two main forms: *hereditary ATTR amyloidosis* (hATTR), which affects multiple organs *e.g.*, peripheral nerves, heart, eyes and kidney and *wild-type ATTR amyloidosis* (ATTRwt), which primarily affects the heart. The hATTR is associated with mutations in the TTR genes and is a lethal autosomal dominant disorder. As of October 2018, 137 different mutations have been identified in the TTR gene (http://amyloidosismutations.com/attr.html). The most common TTR mutation globally is ATTRV30M (valine to methionine substitution at position 30), which is associated with hATTR with polyneuropathy. Another example on a polyneuropathy mutation is ATTRL55P, which is considered to be the most pathogenic variant (Lashuel et al., 1999) and

is associated with an early age onset (at about 15-20 years) polyneuropathy (Jacobson et al., 1992).

The ATTRV122I mutation, which is frequently found among individuals of African descent (Jacobson et al., 1996), and the ATTRL111M mutation, which is common in the Danish population (Nordlie et al., 1988), are two examples of hATTR with cardiomyopathy.

In old age, the wt-TTR can also forms amyloid (Cornwell et al., 1988, Westermark et al., 1990). In approximately 25% of all individuals above the age of 80 years, some cardiac amyloid deposit composed of wt-TTR can be detected (Westermark et al., 1990, Tanskanen et al., 2008).

3.2.4 Diagnosis and therapies for ATTR amyloidosis

Commonly, tissue biopsy followed by Congo red staining is used for the identification of amyloid in tissue and typing of amyloid deposit is most commonly performed by western blot or mass spectrometry (Suhr et al., 2000). During this procedure, a small piece of subcutaneous fat tissue (sometimes from other sites) is used as smear and subjected to Congo red staining. When amyloid is present, this is detected as an apple-green birefringence under a polarized microscope. However, Congo red staining is reliant on the size of the aggregates that can be detected, and therefore small aggregates could be overlooked. In *paper II* of this thesis, we attempted to develop an assay for detection of early ATTR deposits.

Previously, liver transplantation (LT) was thought of as the first-line treatment for hATTR amyloidosis. In LT treatment, the mutant ATTR producing liver is replaced by a wt-TTR producing liver (Suhr et al., 2000). However, LT is limited by the availability of organs.

The fact that tetrameric TTR needs to dissociate into monomer prior to the formation of amyloid, many drugs have been developed to stabilize the tetramer or halt dissociation and thereby prevent TTR amyloid formation. Notably, two drugs—diflunisal and tafamidis, have shown promising results in clinical trials. Tafamidis has been approved for treatment of hATTR amyloidosis in European countries and Japan (Sekijima, 2015) and has recently completed a phase II/III trials (Maurer et al., 2018). Structural studies demonstrated that tafamidis binds to the thyroxin binding sites (TTR dimer-dimer interface, see in Fig. 3.4) of the tetramer and in this way stabilizes the two dimeric species into tetramer (Bulawa et al., 2012). Other promising therapeutics on the way are antisense oligonucleotides (Benson et al., 2017) and siRNAs (Rizk and Tuzmen, 2017) for suppression of mutant and wt-TTR synthesis. These drugs are currently in phase III trials.

4 Beneficial roles of amyloid

Nonpathogenic amyloid structures are ubiquitous in Nature. Numerous organisms including bacteria, fungi, insects, and mammals—including humans, utilize amyloid structures for a diverse range of biological functions. The current chapter will discuss the examples of natural amyloid as well as the potentials of amyloid for artificial functional materials.

4.1 Beneficial formation of amyloid in Nature

The discoveries of *functional amyloid* in yeast have changed the way we perceived amyloid. Of the many cases known, the Sup35p and Ure2p proteins, both from Saccharomyces cerevisae, are well-studied amyloid structures in yeast (reviewed in ref. Chien et al., 2004). The Sup35p in its non-amyloid form functions as a translation termination factor that mediates the termination of protein synthesis at stop codons. However, the aggregation of Sup35p into amyloid disrupts its function and the protein no longer acts as a translational terminator. Thus, the translation continues through the stop codon, and this is thought to be associated with introduction of new phenotypes (Serio and Lindquist, 1999). In addition, it has been demonstrated that the formation of Sup35 fibrils allow yeast cells to withstand both heat and chemical stress better than yeast cells that do not contain Sup35 amyloid (True and Lindquist, 2000). This suggests that the conversion of Sup35p into fibrils in yeast cells may be the results of evolutionary selection (Lancaster et al., 2010). Like Sup35p, the Ure2p protein can also form amyloid. In its soluble form, Ure2p regulates nitrogen catabolism by repressing the activity of transcription factor Gln3p, which controls the expression of nitrogen catabolic gene DAL5 (Coffman et al., 1994). In the presence of a good nitrogen source, yeast blocks the expression of DAL5 (Chien et al., 2004). The conversion of Ure2p into amyloid form prevent this action, which causes constitutive activation of Gln3p, and thus upregulation of DAL5, which enables yeast to utilize poor nitrogen sources through pathways controlled by DAL5.

Functional amyloids have also been discovered in gram-negative bacteria such as *E. coli* and *Pseudomonas*. Curli fibril, assembled from the protein CsgA, is a type of functional fiber believed to constitute the major proteinaceous component of the extracellular matrix produced by *E. coli*. (Arnqvist et al., 1992). The assembly of curli fibril is tightly controlled and assisted by several co-factors such as CsgB, which favors the nucleation process, and CsgG, which transports CsgA to the extracellular space. Curli fibrils are thought to be involved in a range of activities including colonization of inert surfaces and biofilm formation (Vidal et al., 1998), and mediate binding to the host proteins (Olsén et al., 1993).

Before the discoveries of these functional amyloid structures, amyloid found in human were thought to be associated with diseases only. Therefore, the identification of functional amyloid in humans, such as Pmel17 and various peptide hormones in secretory granules of endocrine system, has forced us to reevaluate how we look at amyloid. The Pmel17 has been demonstrated to catalyze melanin biosynthesis in melanosomes (Fowler et al., 2006), and storage of peptide hormones in pituitary secretory granules as aggregates are believed to play critical role in the regulation of their release (Maji et al., 2009). Table 4.1 presents a selection of functional amyloid structures that occur in Nature for various physiological functions.

Species	Protein	Physiological function of resulting fibril			
Bacteria					
Escherichia coli	CsgA	Curli fibrils involved in biofilm formation			
Pseudomonas	FapC	Fibrils in biofilm			
Streptomyces coelicolor	Chaplins	Modulation of water surface tension			
Fungi					
Saccharomyces cerevisae	Sup35p	New phenotypes by enabling stop codon read-through			
	Ure2p	Enables yeast to uptake poor nitrogen source			
Animalia					
Insect and fish	Chorion	Structure and protection of the eggshell			
Nephila clavipes	Spidroins	Formation of silk fiber of the web			
Homo sapiens	Pmel17	Catalyzes synthesis of melanin			

Table 4.1 Examples of amyloid-like structure in natural use.

Table adapted from refs. Fowler et al., 2007, Knowles and Mezzenga, 2016.
4.2 Functionalization of amyloid

The mechanical robustness, as well as the fact that amyloids are used in Nature, makes these structures attractive as the building block for artificial functional materials known as *nanofibril-based material*. The amyloid fibril-forming protein can be engineered as a fusion comprising functional biomolecules such as enzymes, antibody-binding domain, and metal-binding peptide. The fibril-forming protein will spontaneously self-assemble to form nanofibrils with desired functionalities. Numerous of nanofibril-based materials have been developed for various applications in the field of biotechnology, medicine, and biomaterial sciences. For examples, nanofibril-based materials have been designed for use as cell culture scaffolds (Kasai et al., 2004, Gras et al., 2008), as vehicles for drug delivery (Silva et al., 2013), for capturing carbon dioxide from the environment (Li et al., 2014), and as efficient biosensors (Sajanlal et al., 2011, Hauser et al., 2014). A selection of fibril-forming proteins and their emerging applications are listed in Table 4.2.

Fibril protein	Emerging applications		
β-lactoglobulin	Biosensor, catalysis, hybrid, transfection, nanocomposites		
Lysozyme ^a	Artificial bones, hybrids, cell scaffolds		
Sup35p	Biosensors, hybrids		
α-synuclein ^a	Hybrids, sensors		
CsgA/E. coli Curli	Under water adhesives		
TTR1 ^a	Cell scaffolds		
$A\beta_{42}{}^a$	Light harvesting, cell scaffolds, cell differentiation		

Table 4.2 Examples of emerging application of non-pathological and pathological amyloid fibril.

^aalso form pathological deposit in human disease

Table adapted from Knowles and Mezzenga, 2016.

A functionalized nanofibril that has a high binding capacity to antibodies (hereafter called Ab-bNF for <u>antibody-binding nanofibril</u>), was recently assembled in our research group (Schmuck et al., 2017). The Ab-bNF is used in *paper II* of this thesis. The composition and efficiency of the Ab-bNF will briefly be discussed below.

4.2.1 Antibody-binding nanofibrils

In the Ab-bNF, fibrils formed from the N-terminal fragment (1-61) of Sup35 are exploited as frame for displaying the antibody-binding functional Z-domain (introduced in chapter 3.1.3). The Ab-bNF was assembled by co-fibrillation of the functional antibody-binding domain fused to the fibril-forming protein

(Sup35(1-61)-ZZ, chimeric protein) with fibril-forming protein alone (Sup35(1-61), carrier protein). An optimized ratio between the chimeric and carrier proteins provided adequate space on the surface of the fibrils, which reduce steric hindrance, and thus maximizes the functionality of the Ab-bNF. The Ab-bNF assembled using a molar ratio of carrier protein to chimeric protein of 1:0.33 has a binding capacity of 1.8 mg antibody per mg Ab-bNF, which is almost 20-fold higher binding capacity compared to the gold standard Protein A Sepharose used for antibody purification (Schmuck et al., 2017).

5 Present investigations

5.1 Scope of this thesis

This thesis focuses on two aspects: detection of A β and ATTR aggregates *in vitro* and *ex vivo*, and investigation of potential interactions of protofibrillar and fibrillar aggregates of A β with proteins in biofluid.

Specific aims

Paper I:	to identify new affinity proteins that specifically bind to $A\beta$ protofibrils.
Paper II:	to devise a method with high sensitivity for detection of TTR <i>in vitro</i> and ATTR deposits in tissue samples.
Paper III:	to investigate potential interactions between $A\beta$ protofibrils and proteins in human serum and cerebrospinal fluid.
Paper IV:	to explore differences of binding profiles of cerebrospinal fluid proteins to protofibrillar and fibrillar aggregates of Aβ.

5.2 Methodological considerations

This section aims to highlight main methods as well as methods developed in the course of the thesis work. Details of experimental procedures used in each paper are described in the methods section of the corresponding paper.

5.2.1 Surface plasmon resonance (paper I, III and IV)

Surface plasmon resonance (SPR)-based biosensors provide a real-time and label-free technique to study biomolecular interactions (Jonsson et al., 1991). In this method, one binding partner is immobilized on a gold coated surface of a sensor chip while the other interacting-partner is injected in a continuous flow of solution. Polarized light is directed to the under surface of the gold film where surface plasmon is generated at a critical angle (resonance angle) of the incident light. Binding or dissociation of biomolecules at the sensor surface changes the local refractive index and produces a shift in the resonance angle (Schuck, 1997). The SPR provides more comprehensive information of the interactions between two molecules in terms of affinity, kinetics, concentration, and thermodynamics compared to other techniques such as isothermal calorimetry (ITC) and bio-layer interferometry (BLI). ITC cannot provide kinetic (association and dissociation constant) while BLI has very low sensitivity.

The SPR experiments presented in this thesis were executed on a Biacore X100 system (GE Healthcare). The ligands, $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibrils or $A\beta_{42}$ fibril, were immobilized separately onto CM5 sensor chips (GE Healthcare) using standard amine coupling chemistry. Selected proteins were allowed to pass over the immobilized chip surface, and the association and dissociation of the binding kinetics were recorded. Collected data was fitted to 1:1 binding kinetic model or heterogeneous binding model with two binding sites.

5.2.2 Immunoassay (paper II)

We have developed an enhanced detection method to be used for the detection of small amounts of ATTR aggregates. The method is based on the Ab-bNF (introduced in chapter 4.2.1). An enhanced signal in an amyloid detection system can be achieved if an increased number of antibodies can be linked to the antigen avoiding steric hindrance. Using the Ab-bNF, whose surface contains the antibody-binding Z domain (Fig. 5.1a), we could increase the concentration of primary antibody in close association to the antigen, which then provides an increased number of binding sites for the secondary antibody that results in signal amplification (Fig. 5.1b).

Anti-human TTR polyclonal (1899) antibody produced in rabbit was loaded onto the Ab-bNF by incubation at room temperature for 45 min. 1.8 μ g antibody was added to per μ g Ab-bNF. Hereafter the TTR antibody (1899) bound AbbNF is referred to as TTR-bNF. After incubation, TTR-bNF was pelleted and washed to remove unbound antibodies followed by dilution in 1× phosphate buffered saline prior to addition to microplate well containing TTR or on tissue section containing ATTR aggregates. The detection procedure was similar to that of conventional microplate immunoassay or the immunolabeling of tissue section. Goat anti-rabbit antibody conjugated with Alexa Fluor 488 (GAR-Alexa 488) (Thermo Fisher) was used for the detection of TTR-bNF bound to TTR or ATTR aggregates in tissue section.



Figure 5.1 Concept of signal enhancement using Ab-bNF. (a) Anti-human TTR polyclonal (1899) antibody was bound to Ab-bNF via Z domain displayed on the surface, and (b) incubated with TTR antigen, the additional antibodies on the fibril surface amplify the number of secondary antibody binding sites thereby enhancing the signal.

An advantage with this enhancement method is that it links many antibodies to the same binding site on the antigen, which increases the signal from the same antigen compared to the signal from a conventional immunoassay and thereby offer a more sensitive system for the detection of small pathogenic aggregates. A disadvantage of this method is that it requires a large amount of antibody compared to conventional method. However, method development is still at an early stage, and this obstacle should be included in the further optimization strategies.

5.2.3 Protein pull-down assay (paper III and IV)

We established a protein pull-down assay to investigate the potential binding of $A\beta$ protofibril and fibril to proteins in serum and CSF. Previously, affinity chromatography-based method was developed for this purpose (Calero et al., 2012). This method involved in preparation of affinity matrix by preincubation of $A\beta$ with activated cyanogen bromide (CNBr) sepharose and subsequent packing a chromatography column with the matrix. The sample of interest was run over the column, and bound proteins were eluted. A similar approach was demonstrated by Medvedev *et al.* using a different sepharose matrix, *i.e.* Aff-Gel10 (Medvedev et al., 2015). However, these protocols are time-consuming and require expensive instruments such as a liquid chromatography system. Moreover, the volume of the eluate from this setup is large and often needs to be

concentrated for downstream analysis, which increases the risk of losing material in the process. We developed a simple capturing assay which does not require expensive instruments and can be performed in an Eppendorf tube. The other strength of this assay is that the elution volume can be limited to a few μ L.



Figure 5.2 Illustration of the pull-down assay used to investigate the binding of serum and CSF proteins to protofibrillar and fibrillar aggregates of A β . (a) A β aggregates were coupled onto the Dynabeads M-280. (b) Bead-A β complex was incubated with serum or CSF samples for protein binding (b.i). (c) Proteins bound to A β were eluted by heating in SDS-PAGE sample buffer.

We used M-280 magnetic Dynabeads (Invitrogen, catalog #14204) as matrix for coupling the ligands *i.e.* A β aggregates. The bead surface contains activated tosyl groups, which bind to amino groups of the ligands by formation of amine bonds. The bead is ideal for coupling ligands containing primary amino group and has high coupling efficiency. The ligands (A β_{42} CC protofibril or A β_{42} fibrils, 100 µg) were incubated with 5 mg beads in 0.1 M Na-phosphate at pH 7.4 overnight at 37 °C for covalent binding, followed by an additional 1 h incubation in PBS pH 7.4 with 0.5% Tween-20 to block remaining binding sites on the bead surfaces. After this process, the bead-A β complex is ready to study its interaction with proteins in serum or CSF (Fig. 5.2a). For capturing A β -binding partners in serum or CSF, bead-A β complex (0.5 mg) was incubated with serum (150 µL) or CSF (200 µL) at 37 °C for 1h (Fig. 5.2b,bi). Beads were then washed rigorously three times, and bound proteins were eluted in 12 µL SDS-PAGE sample buffer (Bio-Rad) by heating at 70 °C for 10 min (Fig. 5.2c).

The pull-down assay was further accompanied by LC-MS/MS identification of bound proteins and SPR biosensor-based validation of binding.

In the following sections of this thesis, the work in the appended published papers and manuscript are reviewed. *Paper I* and *II* are presented separately, and then the *paper III* and *IV* are presented together. Conclusions follow each of these reviews. The chapter ends with general discussion and possible future directions of this thesis work.

5.3 New affinity proteins to detect Aβ protofibrils (paper I)

The field of AD research is in great needs of potential methods to detect and distinguish soluble A β protofibril from other aggregated forms and monomer. However, antibodies targeting pre-fibrillar A β have previously been developed (Kayed et al., 2003, Englund et al., 2007, Kayed et al., 2007). This study focuses on *in vitro* development of new affinity protein, alternative to antibodies, to detect A β protofibrils.

5.3.1 Selection and validation

Affibody-based affinity proteins were selected by phage display selection (Gronwall et al., 2007). Protofibrils formed from $A\beta_{42}CC$ variant were used as target molecules in the selection method. Six rounds of selection and phage amplification were performed. For the post-selection screening, 744 randomly chosen colonies were expressed directly from phagemid vector in fusion to an albumin binding domain (ABD) and screened for binding to $A\beta_{42}CC$ using an enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Twenty-five potential candidates, EC₅₀ values in the range of 15 to 90 nM, were identified and among these the five most promising binders were denoted as $Z_{A\beta42cc_1}$, $Z_{A\beta42cc_2}$, $Z_{A\beta42cc_3}$, $Z_{A\beta42cc_4}$, and $Z_{A\beta42cc_5}$ (hereafter collectively called A β pf-binders) were considered for further characterization.

These top five binders were then tested for their selective binding to protofibrils over other forms of A β . A β_{42} wt protofibrils were also included in this experiment. ABD-fused A β pf-binder was immobilization on ELISA plate via an anti-ABD antibody followed by incubation with various form of A β . To detect bound A β to A β pf-binder, conformation independent monoclonal antibody 6E10, or conformation-specific antibody mAb1C3 (has some specificity for A β_{42} protofibrils (Englund et al., 2007)) were used.



Figure 5.3 Selective binding of the top five A β pf-binders to various forms A β tested by ELISA using monoclonal antibody 6E10 (a) and mAb1C3 (b). A non A β -binder Affibody molecule, ZTaq_2, PBST, and PBST replacing antibodies were used as controls. Values are means of duplicate experiments.

As shown in Figure 5.3, all tested Affibody molecules bound well to $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibrils, and none of them bound to either monomer or fibrils. Moreover, incubation with 6E10 showed that $Z_{A\beta42cc_1}$ also bind to $A\beta_{42}wt$ protofibrils (Fig. 5.3a). Notably, the conformation-specific mAb1C3 experiment revealed that not only $Z_{A\beta42cc_1}$, but also $Z_{A\beta42cc_3}$ and possibly $Z_{A\beta42cc_4}$ bound to wtprotofibrils (Fig. 5.3b). Why the two other $A\betapf$ -binders *i.e.*, $Z_{A\beta42cc_2}$ and $Z_{A\beta42cc_5}$ did not recognize the wt-protofibrils can be explained by the fact that the wt-protofibrils might form mature fibrils during 1 h incubation time and washed off before detection. The interconversion of wild-type protofibrils to mature fibrils happens rapidly (Luheshi et al., 2010). The situation can also be true for the experiment where 6E10 antibody is used (Fig. 5.3a).

An affinity capture assay with shorter incubation time was then carried out. This assay involved immobilization of Aβpf-binder on nickel-charged resin employing a His6 tag followed by 5 min incubation with various Aβ species. SDS-PAGE analysis confirmed the selective binding of Aβpf-binder to protofibrils over other species (Fig. 5.4a). The results suggest that the tested binders ($Z_{A\beta42cc_1}$ and $Z_{A\beta42cc_4}$), recognized A β_{42} wt protofibrils and A β_{42} CC protofibrils with similar selectivities/intensities (Fig. 5.4b), which was the expected outcome of this experiment.



Figure 5.4 (a) Representative SDS-PAGE analysis of the samples obtained from affinity capture assay using ZA $\beta42cc_4$ as ligand. A β species that bind to ZA $\beta42cc_4$ are eluted together with ZA $\beta42cc_4$ (indicated as bound to A β) and A β species that did not bind to ZA $\beta42cc_4$ are recovered in supernatant (indicated as non-bound to A β). The band corresponding to Affibody and A β are indicated by arrow head. (b) SDS-PAGE band intensities corresponding to bound and non-bound A β . The data was normalized with respect to each A β species, *i.e.* the sum of the intensities for bands originating from one A β species is equal to 100%.

5.3.2 Binding kinetics of Aßpf-binders to protofibril

All tested A β pf-binders showed low nanomolar (nM) binding affinity¹ to A β_{42} CC protofibrils, determined by SPR. Average dissociation constants, K_D,

^{1.} Kinetic data can be found in Table S1 in the supplementary information of paper I

were determined to be ≈ 1.7 (±0.6) nM. However, in order to detect A β protofibrils in biological samples, for instance in CSF, even stronger binders are required. The concentration of protofibrils in the AD CSF is in the picomolar range (Georganopoulou et al., 2005), while in the brain of AD patient the concentration has yet to be determined but is presumed to be very low. Using conformation-specific antibodies, efficient capture of A β protofibrils with concentration in the picomolar range was demonstrated previously (Englund et al., 2007, Yang et al., 2015).

A recent study had shown that the affinity of the Affibody molecules to a protein containing multiple similar binding surfaces (A β protofibril might have such surfaces) can be improved 1000-fold by making dimeric construct (Lindborg et al., 2013). We therefore constructed 14 dimers and studied their binding to A β_{42} CC protofibrils by SPR. However, the affinity improvement with dimeric construct was not as great as expected. All dimeric A β pf-binders showed either equal or up to one order of magnitude stronger affinity compared to the monomers. Further studies, in particularly, structural comparisons of monomeric and dimeric constructs as well as the surface on protofibrils, would be required to understand why higher affinities are not achieved with dimeric construct.

5.3.3 Binding topology

Mapping of the chemical properties of selected side chains onto the Aβpfbinders revealed three chemically distinct regions of the Z-domain surface as *positive-nonpolar-polar*. The surface pattern of Aβpf-binders presumably matches a corresponding surface epitope on the protofibrils. In fact, a recently developed structural model of protofibril contains surfaces that appear to match the selected Affibody molecules (Lendel et al., 2014). However, further structural studies are required to confirm the binding site on the protofibrils.

5.3.4 Conclusions

In this study, we have identified Affibody-based potential proteins that specifically recognize and bind $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibrils. Importantly the binders also recognize protofibrils formed by $A\beta_{42}wt$ peptide. The binders have potential to be used for detection of $A\beta_{42}$ protofibril over other aggregated forms and monomer both in research as well as diagnostics and therapeutic applications.

Future work should be devoted to extensive characterization of these binders—in particular structural studies to get insight into the structural basis for the interactions with protofibrils. It would also be relevant to investigate the potential of these affinity proteins in brain imaging. Another exciting future study would be designing a new functional A β protofibril-binding protein nanofibril, where the A β -pf binder will be displayed on the fibril surface, a similar strategy used in *paper II*.

5.4 Development of method for sensitive detection of ATTR aggregates (*paper II*)

The tissue damage caused by amyloid deposition is not repairable, and early detection of amyloid deposit can provide early treatments thus prevent progressive tissue damage. In this study, we improved an ATTR detection system by exploiting nanofibril functionalized with TTR antibody (TTR-bNF) to detect small amount TTR amyloid.

5.4.1 Signal enhancement in microplate immunoassay

To test the efficacy of the TTR-bNF, we performed a microplate immunoassay using a stable monomeric TTR (mono-TTR) (Jiang et al., 2001), as antigen. The mono-TTR was immobilized onto the microtiter plate well. TTR-bNF charged with \approx 13.5 µg anti-human TTR polyclonal (1899) antibody was added to the well. After incubation, TTR-bNF bound to mono-TTR was detected using GAR-Alexa 488. In parallel, a reference assay was performed using the same procedure except that 1 µg antibody was added to wells with no fibrils included.

Using the improved assay, sensitivity was enhanced 128-fold compared to the reference assay (Fig. 5.5a). A control experiment that involved immobilization of mono-TTR onto a microtiter plate wells followed by incubation with increasing concentration of primary antibody showed that fluorescence could not be increased by adding more antibody without loading onto the fibrils (Fig. 5.5b). This demonstrated that the enhanced signal is due to TTR-bNF in the system.

The results showed that the concept for signal enhancement worked as expected. However, the current protocol has limitations. For example, the limit of detection cannot be precisely calculated from the collected data using the current setup due to the large standard deviation that was observed. Possible reasons for the large standard deviation could be the diversity of the fibril lengths as well as longer fibrils employed in the assay. The use of a uniform fibril length could be critical, since it determines the number of primary antibodies introduced into the system. In addition, longer fibrils are heavier and could be more susceptible to uncontrolled release from the surface due to shearing forces during the washing steps. The irregular data points in our assay support this hypothesis. Our Ab-bNFs are quite long and exhibit fibrils of diverse lengths ranging from 1-2.4 μ m analyzed by TEM. Another factor that possibly contribute to the large variation between data points is uneven distribution of fibril in solution.



Figure 5.5 Signal enhancement in microplate immunoassay. (a) Comparison of TTR-bNF assay (green) with reference assay (black) (b) A plot showing that the florescence cannot be increased by adding extra amount of antibody if they are not loaded onto fibrils. Each data point represents mean \pm SD (n=3).

Introduction of shorter fibrils of ca. 500 nm into the system could prevent uncontrolled release from surface and also minimize the uneven distribution in the solution, as demonstrated in a previous study (Men et al., 2009). Fibrils with shorter length can be produced by adding more seeds during fibril assembly. Also, a relatively large volume of fibrillation solution (than the amount used) can be beneficial to produce small fibrils as well as their even distribution in the solution. In addition, the strategic testing of the fibril compositions *i.e.* different ratios of fibril-forming proteins (Sup35) and fusion protein (Sup35-ZZ) should be performed. Importantly, the reproducibility of the Ab-bNF should be a key to obtain the defined fibrils lengths and fibrils distribution.

5.4.2 Enhanced signal in immunolabeling of ex-vivo tissue

Next, we tested the usefulness of the method in immunolabeling of patientderived tissue containing ATTR aggregates. This assay involved incubation of tissue section with TTR-bNF containing either 9 μ g or 13.5 μ g primary antibody followed by detection of bound TTR-bNF using GAR-Alexa 488. For comparison, decreasing concentrations of primary antibody, 1 μ g, 0.5 μ g or 0.25 μ g was directly added to the section.



Figure 5.6 Enhanced fluorescence in immunolabeling of patient-derived tissue containing ATTR aggregates using the TTR-bNF. *Top two images*, the regular assay where primary antibody was directly added to the tissue sections. *Bottom two images*, the TTR-bNF assay where primary antibody was bound to the fibrils before addition to the tissue sections.

As shown in Figure 5.6, amyloid specific signal was observed in section incubated with 0.25 μ g of antibody. In comparison the section incubated with 1 μ g (4-fold more) antibody exhibited a weaker signal, which is not uncommon when tissue section is incubated with higher antibody concentration. As

expected, section incubated with TTR-bNF carried 9 μ g antibody, which is almost 10-fold more antibodies compared to above reference, results in strong fluorescent signals. Notably, much stronger signal is observed in section incubated with TTR-bNF that carried 13.5 μ g antibody compared to signal observed in section incubated with TTR-bNF that carried 9 μ g antibody (Fig. 5.6, bottom images). This result shows that the enhanced signal is indeed due to TTR-bNF. Moreover, the enhanced signal is well associated with amyloid deposit in tissue, and the unspecific binding of amyloid fibril (TTR-bNF) to the tissue could be excluded. The result indicates that the method has potential to detect small aggregates deposited in tissue, and further evaluation should be performed on tissue with very small amyloid deposits.

5.4.3 Conclusions

The results produced in the pilot study are promising, but further optimizations are warranted. With further development the detection system could provide a new method for the detection of small amyloid aggregates. Currently, we are focusing on producing short fibrils with uniform length.

Interesting future studies would be to explore the method in the detection of other amyloid aggregates such as $A\beta$ and IAPP aggregates.

5.5 Identification of A β interactome in biofluid (*paper III* and *IV*)

Numerous proteins are colocalized with $A\beta$ in the AD plaque, and may associate with soluble $A\beta$ in CSF and serum. Identification of $A\beta$ -interacting partners in serum and CSF is of great interest for studying $A\beta$ -related neurotoxicity in AD as well as biomarker discovery. Potential binding partners of pre-fibrillar and fibrillar form of $A\beta$ in serum, and AD and non-AD CSF is investigated in *paper III* and *IV*.

5.5.1 Aß sequesters numerous proteins in biofluid

We identified a couple of hundred proteins that bound to various forms of A β . In *paper III*, we studied the binding of serum proteins to A β_{42} CC protofibrils. The binding partners of A β_{42} CC protofibrils in serum were captured using the pull-down assay outlined the chapter 5.2.3. The MS analysis of the captured proteins revealed that 51 different proteins bound to A β_{42} CC protofibrils from serum. Beads coated with glycine were used as control. A few proteins were found to bind the control beads, but the binding level was low (Fig. 5.7), which was further confirmed by the peptide abundance indices (PAI) values (Sanders et al., 2002).



Figure 5.7 An SDS-PAGE analysis of protein samples extracted from serum using $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibril- and glycine-coated breads showing that more proteins are extracted by beads coated with $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibril than beads coated with glycine. The arrows indicate bands corresponding to $A\beta_{42}CC$ monomer (M), dimer (D), and trimer (T).

CSF is perhaps more biologically relevant to AD pathology (Blennow et al., 2010) compared to serum. We studied the binding of CSF proteins to $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibrils (*paper III*) and $A\beta_{42}wt$ fibrils (*paper IV*). Of twelve CSF samples used, six were from AD and six from non-AD patients (see Table 5.1 for the clinical features of CSF sample).

-	n	M/F (n)	Age (y)	Aβ ₄₂ (ng/L)	t-tau (ng/L)	p-tau (ng/L)
non-AD	6	1ª/3	$71.2\pm7.1^{\rm b,c}$	808.5 ± 253.7	262.7 ± 145.9	40 ± 17.8
AD	6	3/3	65.8 ± 8.7	454 ± 140.2	782 ± 94.4	93.1 ± 11.3

Table 5.1 Patient characteristics and CSF parameters. Patients were designated as AD or non-AD as previously described (Hansson et al., 2006).

^atwo samples without recorded gender.

^btwo samples without recorded age.

°Calculated for four samples.

non-AD, non-Alzheimer's disease; AD, Alzheimer's disease; t-tau, total tau; p-tau, phosphorylated tau Values are expressed as mean \pm SD.

Like the serum experiment, several proteins were extracted by both $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibril- and $A\beta_{42}wt$ fibril-coated beads from CSF samples. Also, the same low-level binding was observed to controls coated with glycine or tryptophan

(Fig. 5.8). Through the MS analysis we identified 74 and 201 proteins², extracted by A β_{42} CC protofibril- and A β_{42} fibril-coated beads from CSF, respectively. However, while comparing A β_{42} CC protofibrillar binding proteins with A β_{42} wt fibrillar binding proteins, the A β_{42} wt fibril-binding proteins list were corrected by subtracting³ proteins below 20 kDa and above 250 kDa (56 proteins subtracted⁴) which results the number of A β_{42} wt fibril-binding proteins to 145. These numbers show that more proteins are extracted by A β_{42} fibril-coated beads than beads coated with A β_{42} CC protofibril. Notably, many proteins were identified to bind A β_{42} wt fibril but not A β_{42} CC protofibrils. Hence, we called these A β_{42} wt fibril-specific proteins (*paper IV*).



Figure 5.8 Representative SDS-PAGE analyses of protein samples extracted from CSF by $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibrils, glycine, $A\beta_{40}wt$ monomer, tryptophan, and Sup35 fibrils coated beads. More proteins bind to $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibril-coated beads than beads coated with glycine, $A\beta_{40}wt$ monomer, and tryptophan. Protein binding pattern to Sup35 fibrils is different compared to binding to other tested samples. Arrow heads indicate bands corresponding to $A\beta_{42}CC$ monomer (M), dimer (D) and trimer (T), and Sup35 (S35).

Substantial variation of protein binding among the CSF samples were noted. Such differences are expected due to heterogeneity among the CSF samples. The number of identified proteins did not show obvious correlation with total protein content or sex. However, a positive correlation between age and the number of

^{2.} The complete list of protofibril-binding proteins can be found in Supporting Information S1 of paper III, and fibril-binding proteins are found in Supporting Table S1of paper IV.

^{3.} The rationale for this subtraction is, in the protofibril-binding experiment, the pull-down eluate was run on SDS-PAGE and proteins migrating between the MW of 20-250 kDa were cut out and analyzed by LC-MS/MS, whereas, in the fibril-binding experiment, the whole eluate was subjected to LC-MS/MS analysis.

^{4.} The subtracted proteins list is found in Table S3 in the Supporting information of paper IV.

identified proteins, bound to $A\beta_{42}$ wt fibril, was noted in samples from patients diagnosed with AD⁵ (*paper IV*). Proteins identified to bind to $A\beta_{42}$ CC protofibrils did not reveal any major differences between AD *vs*. non-AD group (*paper III*), nonetheless, proteins found to bind $A\beta_{42}$ wt fibrils showed some differences between AD *vs*. non-AD group (*paper III*).

To further access the specificity of the interaction, we studied the binding of CSF proteins to non-disease related nanofiber formed by yeast protein Sup35. Fibrils formed by Sup35 are similar in structure to A β fibrils (Nelson et al., 2005). One AD and one non-AD CSF sample was tested. Protein binding pattern to Sup35 fibrils was different compared to other tested ligands (Fig. 5.8). The MS analysis reveals twenty different proteins were bound to Sup35 fibrils (*paper III*). Notably, all these twenty proteins were also found to bind A β_{42} wt fibrils (*paper IV*). This result indicates that the surface of the fibrils might have specific binding epitopes for these proteins or the proteins have binding sites for fibrils.

However, several proteins identified in the present study as binding to different A β conformations have previously been reported to be associated with A β in AD plaque (Kalaria et al., 1993, McGeer et al., 1994, Liao et al., 2004), which indicates that our studies are of relevance to the situation *in vivo*. Moreover, protein identified in our studies may have potential to modulate A β fibrillation. Indeed, some of the proteins in our list have been shown to modulate amyloid formation and toxicity, for examples apolipoprotein A-I (Paula-Lima et al., 2009) and apolipoprotein E (Drouet et al., 2001), complement component C3q (Pisalyaput and Tenner, 2008) and clusterin (Yerbury et al., 2007). Hence, further investigation of protein identified in our studies might lead to new insight into the pathways of AD neurodegeneration.

5.5.2 Aβ species higher in order of aggregation binds more proteins

As stated in previous section, $A\beta_{42}wt$ fibrils attract more proteins than $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibrils (74 for protofibrils *vs.* 145 for fibrils). In *paper III*, we studied the binding of CSF proteins to monomeric $A\beta$ to compare the outcome with proteins identified to bind to two other $A\beta$ conformations. One CSF sample was tested. For this test, we chose to use the $A\beta_{40}$ monomer since the $A\beta_{40}$ isoform is less prone to aggregation than $A\beta_{42}$ (Burdick et al., 1992, Jarrett et al., 1993). A few weak gel bands were visible on an SDS-PAGE in samples from $A\beta_{40}$ experiment (Fig. 5.8, lane: $A\beta_{40}wt$ monomer). The MS result revealed only nine proteins in $A\beta_{40}wt$ sample, compared to an average 30 and 80 proteins for $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibrils and $A\beta_{42}wt$ fibrils, respectively. The $A\beta$ species higher in order of

^{5.} See Table S2 in supplementary information of paper IV.

the aggregation pathway (monomer \rightarrow oligomer/protofibril \rightarrow fibril) binds more proteins, which suggests that the binding of proteins to A β is enhanced upon aggregation of A β . A more recent study performed by Salza and co-workers (Salza et al., 2017) supports our finding. The protein binding differences among A β s and other ligands can be explained by several factors including the differences in surface area accessibility, charge and tertiary structure of the binding surface, as well as the structural differences of pre-fibrillar and fibrillar aggregates.

5.5.3 Validation of protein binding to different Aβ conformations

To confirm the binding event of proteins with $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibril and/or $A\beta_{42}wt$ fibrils, SPR-based biosensor studies was performed on selected proteins. The SPR results validated the pull-down assay results as well as $A\beta$ conformation-dependent protein binding. The results are summarized in Table 5.2. The $A\beta$ conformation-dependent protein binding in our study agrees well with an earlier study (Salza et al., 2017), and indicates that different $A\beta$ nanostructure has a distinct set of binding partners.

Protein	SPR :	assay	Pull-down assay	
	Bound to $PF(K_D)$	Bound to $F(K_D)$	Bound to PF	Bound to F
Agrin	n.d	3.5 nM	×	
Antithrombin III	0.3 µM	n.t	\checkmark	\checkmark
Apolipoprotein A-I	3 μΜ	n.t	\checkmark	\checkmark
Apolipoprotein E	3 nM	0.3 nM	\checkmark	\checkmark
Complement C3	0.6 µM	n.t	\checkmark	\checkmark
Dickkopf-protein 3	n.d	26.2 nM	×	\checkmark
Neurocan	n.d	11.7 nM	×	\checkmark
Osteopontin	n.d	n.d	×	\checkmark
SPARC-like protein 1	n.d	6.2 nM	×	\checkmark

Table 5.2 Binding kinetics of the selected proteins to $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibrils and $A\beta_{42}wt$ fibrils, determined by SPR assay. Also includes a comparison of pull-down assay results in terms of yes/no binding with SPR results.

PF, protofibrils; F, fibrils; n.d, not determined; n.t, not tested; $\sqrt{}$, yes; \times , no

As seen in Table 5.2, all tested proteins showed high affinity, in the range of low micromolar to subnanomolar, to the corresponding $A\beta$ partner.

5.5.4 Comparison of protofibrillar and fibrillar Aβ binding-proteins

Gene ontology (GO) annotation (Mi et al., 2013) into molecular function and cellular component were performed. The analysis showed that $A\beta_{42}$ wt fibrilbinding proteins possess binding activity, in contrary, $A\beta_{42}CC$ protofibrilbinding proteins possess catalytic activity. Both aggregate binders are predominantly extracellular proteins. The extracellular matrix is an important component of the brain, and is associated with various functions such as networking (Dauth et al., 2016). It is thought that the $A\beta$ fibril formation is nucleated on extracellular matrix (Murphy and LeVine, 2010).

By utilizing the Human Protein Atlas (HPA) tissue-enriched database (Uhlén et al., 2015), we identified ten proteins with brain-specific expression pattern that associated with A β_{42} wt fibril only, but not to the A β_{42} CC protofibrils. Fibrils are the principal component in the amyloid plaque (Chauhan et al., 2004, Chander et al., 2007), and they might have more frequent interaction with brain proteins.

We identified some proteins, bound to $A\beta_{42}$ wt fibril, which may enable the discrimination between non-AD and AD CSF and could be of relevance of AD biomarkers. Agrin, an extracellular matrix heparan sulphate proteoglycan expressed in neurons (Donahue et al., 1999), is an example of such proteins. In our study, agrin was found to be abundant in AD CSF. Our result agrees well with the existing literature. For examples, Berzin *et al.* (2000) observed increased levels of agrin in CSF of patients with AD compared non-AD CSF while Cotman *et al.* (2000) reported that agrin is colocalizes with $A\beta$ in amyloid plaques and they also showed that agrin bind to $A\beta$ and accelerates $A\beta$ fibrillation. Alpha-1-microglobulin/bikunin (AMAB) was found to be abundant in non-AD CSF, which corroborates earlier data (Ramström et al., 2003).

5.5.5 Conclusions

A β was found to interact with a broad range of proteins in serum and CSF. The binding of proteins to A β is likely governed by the A β conformation, and protein binding is enhanced upon aggregation of A β . Protofibrillar and fibrillar A β -binding protein represent distinct functional categories, and fibril-binding proteins are enriched in the brain. Additionally, several of the identified proteins might have potential to discriminate between AD *vs.* non-AD CSF. Taken together, our results demonstrate that A β aggregates might appear as multiprotein aggregates *in vivo* and that the presence of protein binding partners might be important when investigating the cytotoxic mechanisms of protein aggregates.

An interesting future project would be to identify $A\beta$ interacting partners in the brain tissue extracts, which would provide greater insight into the $A\beta$ interactome in the actual brain environment. A second future project would be to test the potential of new identified $A\beta$ -binders for modulating *in vitro* $A\beta$ fibrillation and toxicity in cell culture experiment. Another interesting topic of the future study would be to investigate the potential of the binders identified here as candidate biomarkers for AD.

5.6 Concluding remarks

The molecular biology underlying $A\beta$ aggregation and synapse dysfunction in AD is poorly understood. However, from a situation where most of the research was focused on the mature $A\beta$ fibrils, the focus has been shifted to soluble prefibrillar $A\beta$ aggregates *e.g.*, oligomers and protofibrils. Considerable evidence suggests that oligomers or protofibrils are the most toxic species among other $A\beta$ species and are correlate well with neuronal death in the AD brain (Walsh et al., 2002, Walsh and Selkoe, 2007). However, many questions remain to be answered, for instance how do protofibrils exert their toxicity and initiate neurodegeneration? Among possible mechanisms, their interactions with other proteins have been implicated in these effects (Lee et al., 2017). No significant amount of research has been carried out to investigate this aspect. Our studies on $A\beta$ -binding protein will add to the knowledge about the complex $A\beta$ -interactome and its toxicity.

Although recent studies have helped us to advance our understanding about protofibril assembly and their structural properties, much of the details surrounding oligomers or protofibrils formations remain elusive. The fact that these soluble pre-fibrillar aggregates are heterogeneous and metastable and therefore poses a challenge for their detection. Because of its strong association with AD, the protofibrils are also the prime target for the development of AD treatments, in particular, disease-modifying therapies. Several good antibodies have been developed for the detection of oligomer or protofibril (Kayed et al., 2003, Englund et al., 2007, Kayed et al., 2007). The apparent advantage of our new protofibril binders compared to antibodies is their small size. This would enable future applications in both therapy and brain imaging since small molecules are the primary choice for efficient tissue penetration or passage across the blood-brain barrier.

As a complementary to the traditional amyloid detection techniques *e.g.* Congo red stating, the development of new methods based on biotechnology will become valuable tools for clinical identification of amyloid in tissue. Our approach of using nanofibrils in amyloid detection system will be an addition in this regard. However, further optimizations and validation are required before it can be used in clinical practice.

References

- ABRAHAM, C. R., SELKOE, D. J. & POTTER, H. 1988. Immunochemical identification of the serine protease inhibitor alpha 1-antichymotrypsin in the brain amyloid deposits of Alzheimer's disease. *Cell*, 52, 487-501.
- ALONSO, A., ZAIDI, T., NOVAK, M., GRUNDKE-IQBAL, I. & IQBAL, K. 2001. Hyperphosphorylation induces self-assembly of tau into tangles of paired helical filaments/straight filaments. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 6923-8.
- ALZHEIMER, A., STELŽMANN, R. A., SCHNITZLEIN, H. N. & MURTAGH, F. R. 1995. An English translation of Alzheimer's 1907 paper, "Uber eine eigenartige Erkankung der Hirnrinde". *Clin Anat*, 8, 429-31.
- ALZHEIMER'S ASSOCIATION 2018. 2018 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 14, 367-429.
- ANFINSEN, C. B. 1973. Principles that govern the folding of protein chains. Science, 181, 223-30.
- ANFINSEN, C. B., HARRINGTON, W. F., HVIDT, A., LINDERSTROM-LANG, K., OTTESEN, M. & SCHELLMAN, J. 1955. Studies on the structural basis of ribonuclease activity. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 17, 141-2.
- ANFINSEN, C. B., REDFIELD, R. R., CHOATE, W. L., PAGE, J. & CARROLL, W. R. 1954. Studies on the gross structure, cross-linkages, and terminal sequences in ribonuclease. J Biol Chem, 207, 201-10.
- ARNQVIST, A., OLSEN, A., PFEIFER, J., RUSSELL, D. G. & NORMARK, S. 1992. The Crl protein activates cryptic genes for curli formation and fibronectin binding in Escherichia coli HB101. *Mol Microbiol*, 6, 2443-52.
- BEKRIS, L. M., YU, C. E., BIRD, T. D. & TSUANG, D. W. 2010. Genetics of Alzheimer disease. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol, 23, 213-27.
- BENILOVA, I. & DE STROOPER, B. 2013. Neuroscience. Promiscuous Alzheimer's amyloid: yet another partner. *Science*, 341, 1354-5.
- BENSON, M. D., DASGUPTA, N. R., RISSING, S. M., SMITH, J. & FEIGENBAUM, H. 2017. Safety and efficacy of a TTR specific antisense oligonucleotide in patients with transthyretin amyloid cardiomyopathy. *Amyloid*, 24, 219-225.
- BERG, J. M., TYMOCZKO, J. L. & STRYER, L. 2002. *Biochemistry*, United States of America, W.H. Freeman and Compary, New York.
- BERGMANS, B. A. & DE STROOPER, B. 2010. gamma-secretases: from cell biology to therapeutic strategies. *Lancet Neurol*, 9, 215-26.
- BERZIN, T. M., ZIPSER, B. D., RAFII, M. S., KUO-LEBLANC, V., YANCOPOULOS, G. D., GLASS, D. J., FALLON, J. R. & STOPA, E. G. 2000. Agrin and microvascular damage in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 21, 349-55.
- BLAKE, C. C., SWAN, I. D., RERAT, C., BERTHOU, J., LAURENT, A. & RERAT, B. 1971. An x-ray study of the subunit structure of prealbumin. *J Mol Biol*, 61, 217-24.
- BLENNOW, K., HAMPEL, H., WEINER, M. & ZETTERBERG, H. 2010. Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma biomarkers in Alzheimer disease. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 6, 131-44.
- BULAWA, C. E., CONNELLY, S., DEVIT, M., WANG, L., WEIGEL, C., FLEMING, J. A., PACKMAN, J., POWERS, E. T., WISEMAN, R. L., FOSS, T. R., WILSON, I. A., KELLY,

J. W. & LABAUDINIERE, R. 2012. Tafamidis, a potent and selective transthyretin kinetic stabilizer that inhibits the amyloid cascade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109, 9629-34.

- BURDICK, D., SOREGHAN, B., KWON, M., KOSMOSKI, J., KNAUER, M., HENSCHEN, A., YATES, J., COTMAN, C. & GLABE, C. 1992. Assembly and aggregation properties of synthetic Alzheimer's A4/beta amyloid peptide analogs. *J Biol Chem*, 267, 546-54.
- CALERO, M., ROSTAGNO, A. & GHISO, J. 2012. Search for amyloid-binding proteins by affinity chromatography. *Methods Mol Biol*, 849, 213-23.
- CHAMBERLAIN, A. K., MACPHEE, C. E., ZURDO, J., MOROZOVA-ROCHE, L. A., HILL, H. A., DOBSON, C. M. & DAVIS, J. J. 2000. Ultrastructural organization of amyloid fibrils by atomic force microscopy. *Biophys J*, 79, 3282-93.
- CHANDER, H., CHAUHAN, A. & CHAUHAN, V. 2007. Binding of proteases to fibrillar amyloid-beta protein and its inhibition by Congo red. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 12, 261-9.
- CHAPMAN, M. R., ROBINSON, L. S., PINKNER, J. S., ROTH, R., HEUSER, J., HAMMAR, M., NORMARK, S. & HULTGREN, S. J. 2002. Role of Escherichia coli curli operons in directing amyloid fiber formation. *Science*, 295, 851-5.
- CHAUHAN, N., WANG, K. C., WEGIEL, J. & MALIK, M. N. 2004. Walnut extract inhibits the fibrillization of amyloid beta-protein, and also defibrillizes its preformed fibrils. *Curr Alzheimer Res*, 1, 183-8.
- CHIEN, P., WEISSMAN, J. S. & DEPACE, A. H. 2004. Emerging principles of conformation-based prion inheritance. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 73, 617-56.
- CIECHANOVER, A. & SCHWARTZ, A. L. 2002. Ubiquitin-mediated degradation of cellular proteins in health and disease. *Hepatology*, 35, 3-6.
- COFFMAN, J. A., EL BERRY, H. M. & COOPER, T. G. 1994. The URE2 protein regulates nitrogen catabolic gene expression through the GATAA-containing UASNTR element in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Bacteriol, 176, 7476-83.
- COHEN, A. S. & CALKINS, E. 1959. Electron microscopic observations on a fibrous component in amyloid of diverse origins. *Nature*, 183, 1202-3.
- COHEN, A. S. & CALKINS, E. 1964. The isolation of amyloid fibrils and a study of the effect of collagenase and hyaluronidase. *J Cell Biol*, 21, 481-6.
- COHEN, S. I., LINSE, S., LUHESHI, L. M., HELLSTRAND, E., WHITE, D. A., RAJAH, L., OTZEN, D. E., VENDRUSCOLO, M., DOBSON, C. M. & KNOWLES, T. P. 2013. Proliferation of amyloid-b42 aggregates occurs through a secondary nucleation mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110, 9758-63.
- COHEN, S. I., VENDRUSCOLO, M., WELLAND, M. E., DOBSON, C. M., TERENTJEV, E. M. & KNOWLES, T. P. 2011. Nucleated polymerization with secondary pathways. I. Time evolution of the principal moments. *J Chem Phys*, 135, 065105.
- CORNWELL, G. G., 3RD, SLETTEN, K., JOHANSSON, B. & WESTERMARK, P. 1988. Evidence that the amyloid fibril protein in senile systemic amyloidosis is derived from normal prealbumin. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 154, 648-53.
- CORONEL, R., BERNABEU-ZORNOZA, A., PALMER, C., MUNIZ-MORENO, M., ZAMBRANO, A., CANO, E. & LISTE, I. 2018. Role of amyloid precursor protein (APP) and its derivatives in the biology and cell fate specification of neural stem cells. *Mol Neurobiol*, 55, 7107-7117.
- COTMAN, S. L., HALFTER, W. & COLE, G. J. 2000. Agrin binds to beta-amyloid (Abeta), accelerates abeta fibril formation, and is localized to Abeta deposits in Alzheimer's disease brain. *Mol Cell Neurosci*, 15, 183-98.
- CUMMINGS, J., RITTER, A. & ZHONG, K. 2018. Clinical Trials for disease-modifying therapies in Alzheimer's Disease: A primer, lessons learned, and a blueprint for the future. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 64, S3-s22.
- DAUTH, S., GREVESSE, T., PANTAZOPOULOS, H., CAMPBELL, P. H., MAOZ, B. M., BERRETTA, S. & PARKER, K. K. 2016. Extracellular matrix protein expression is brain region dependent. J Comp Neurol, 524, 1309-36.
- DIVRY, P. & FLORKIN, M. 1927. Sur les proprietes optiques de l'amyloid. Societe de Biologie. (Fre), 180-181.
- DONAHUE, J. E., BERZIN, T. M., RAFII, M. S., GLASS, D. J., YANCOPOULOS, G. D., FALLON, J. R. & STOPA, E. G. 1999. Agrin in Alzheimer's disease: altered solubility and abnormal distribution within microvasculature and brain parenchyma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96, 6468-72.
- DROUET, B., FIFRE, A., PINCON-RAYMOND, M., VANDEKERCKHOVE, J., ROSSENEU, M., GUEANT, J. L., CHAMBAZ, J. & PILLOT, T. 2001. ApoE protects cortical neurones against

neurotoxicity induced by the non-fibrillar C-terminal domain of the amyloid-beta peptide. J Neurochem, 76, 117-27.

- DUBNOVITSKY, A., SANDBERG, A., RAHMAN, M. M., BENILOVA, I., LENDEL, C. & HÄRD, T. 2013. Amyloid-beta protofibrils: size, morphology and synaptotoxicity of an engineered mimic. *PLoS One*, 8, e66101.
- EANES, E. D. & GLENNER, G. G. 1968. X-ray diffraction studies on amyloid filaments. J Histochem Cytochem, 16, 673-7.
- EISELE, Y. S., MONTEIRO, C., FEARNS, C., ENCALADA, S. E., WISEMAN, R. L., POWERS, E. T. & KELLY, J. W. 2015. Targeting protein aggregation for the treatment of degenerative diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*, 14, 759-80.
- ENGLUND, H., SEHLIN, D., JOHANSSON, A. S., NILSSON, L. N., GELLERFORS, P., PAULIE, S., LANNFELT, L. & PETTERSSON, F. E. 2007. Sensitive ELISA detection of amyloid-beta protofibrils in biological samples. *J Neurochem*, 103, 334-45.
- FELDING, P. & FEX, G. 1982. Cellular origin of prealbumin in the rat. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 716, 446-9.
- FOLCH, J., ETTCHETO, M., PETROV, D., ABAD, S., PEDROS, I., MARIN, M., OLLOQUEQUI, J. & CAMINS, A. 2018. Review of the advances in treatment for Alzheimer disease: Strategies for combating beta-amyloid protein. *Neurologia*, 33, 47-58.
- FOSS, T. R., WISEMAN, R. L. & KELLY, J. W. 2005. The pathway by which the tetrameric protein transthyretin dissociates. *Biochemistry*, 44, 15525-33.
- FOWLER, D. M., KOULOV, A. V., ALORY-JOST, C., MARKS, M. S., BALCH, W. E. & KELLY, J. W. 2006. Functional amyloid formation within mammalian tissue. *PLoS Biol*, 4, e6.
- FOWLER, D. M., KOULOV, A. V., BALCH, W. E. & KELLY, J. W. 2007. Functional amyloid--from bacteria to humans. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 32, 217-24.
- FRATIGLIONI, L., GRUT, M., FORSELL, Y., VIITANEN, M., GRAFSTROM, M., HOLMEN, K., ERICSSON, K., BACKMAN, L., AHLBOM, A. & WINBLAD, B. 1991. Prevalence of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias in an elderly urban population: relationship with age, sex, and education. *Neurology*, 41, 1886-92.
- GEORGANOPOULOU, D. G., CHANG, L., NAM, J. M., THAXTON, C. S., MUFSON, E. J., KLEIN, W. L. & MIRKIN, C. A. 2005. Nanoparticle-based detection in cerebral spinal fluid of a soluble pathogenic biomarker for Alzheimer's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 2273-6.
- GLICKMAN, M. H. & CIECHANOVER, A. 2002. The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway: destruction for the sake of construction. *Physiol Rev*, 82, 373-428.
- GOATE, A., CHARTIER-HARLIN, M. C., MULLAN, M., BROWN, J., CRAWFORD, F., FIDANI, L., GIUFFRA, L., HAYNES, A., IRVING, N., JAMES, L. & ET AL. 1991. Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, 349, 704-6.
- GRAS, S. L., TICKLER, A. K., SQUIRES, A. M., DEVLIN, G. L., HORTON, M. A., DOBSON, C. M. & MACPHEE, C. E. 2008. Functionalised amyloid fibrils for roles in cell adhesion. *Biomaterials*, 29, 1553-62.
- GRONWALL, C., JONSSON, A., LINDSTROM, S., GUNNERIUSSON, E., STAHL, S. & HERNE, N. 2007. Selection and characterization of Affibody ligands binding to Alzheimer amyloid beta peptides. *J Biotechnol*, 128, 162-83.
- HAMILTON, J. A. & BENSON, M. D. 2001. Transthyretin: a review from a structural perspective. Cell Mol Life Sci, 58, 1491-521.
- HANSSON, O., ZETTERBERG, H., BUCHHAVE, P., LONDOS, E., BLENNOW, K. & MINTHON, L. 2006. Association between CSF biomarkers and incipient Alzheimer's disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment: a follow-up study. *Lancet Neurol*, 5, 228-34.
- HÄRD, T. 2011. Protein engineering to stabilize soluble amyloid beta-protein aggregates for structural and functional studies. *Febs j*, 278, 3884-92.
- HÄRD, T. 2014. Amyloid fibrils: Formation, polymorphism, and inhibition. J Phys Chem Lett, 5, 607-614.
- HARDY, J. 2009. The amyloid hypothesis for Alzheimer's disease: a critical reappraisal. *J Neurochem*, 110, 1129-34.
- HARPER, J. D., WONG, S. S., LIEBER, C. M. & LANSBURY, P. T. 1997. Observation of metastable Abeta amyloid protofibrils by atomic force microscopy. *Chem Biol*, 4, 119-25.
- HARTL, F. U., BRACHER, A. & HAYER-HARTL, M. 2011. Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. *Nature*, 475, 324-32.

- HAUSER, C. A., MAURER-STROH, S. & MARTINS, I. C. 2014. Amyloid-based nanosensors and nanodevices. *Chem Soc Rev*, 43, 5326-45.
- HEDHAMMAR, M. & HOBER, S. 2007. Z(basic)--a novel purification tag for efficient protein recovery. *J Chromatogr A*, 1161, 22-8.
- HERBERT, J., WILCOX, J. N., PHAM, K. T., FREMEAU, R. T., JR., ZEVIANI, M., DWORK, A., SOPRANO, D. R., MAKOVER, A., GOODMAN, D. S., ZIMMERMAN, E. A. & ET AL. 1986. Transthyretin: a choroid plexus-specific transport protein in human brain. The 1986 S. Weir Mitchell award. *Neurology*, 36, 900-11.
- HOLDER PUCHTLER, F. S. A. M. L. 1962. ON THE BINDING OF CONGO RED BY AMYLOID. Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry, 10, 355-363.
- HÖRNBERG, A., ENEQVIST, T., OLOFSSON, A., LUNDGREN, E. & SAUER-ERIKSSON, A. E. 2000. A comparative analysis of 23 structures of the amyloidogenic protein transthyretin. J Mol Biol, 302, 649-69.
- HOYER, W., GRONWALL, C., JONSSON, A., STAHL, S. & HÄRD, T. 2008. Stabilization of a betahairpin in monomeric Alzheimer's amyloid-beta peptide inhibits amyloid formation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 5099-104.
- HOYER, W. & HÄRD, T. 2008. Interaction of Alzheimer's A beta peptide with an engineered binding protein--thermodynamics and kinetics of coupled folding-binding. *J Mol Biol*, 378, 398-411.
- HURSHMAN, A. R., WHITE, J. T., POWERS, E. T. & KELLY, J. W. 2004. Transhyretin aggregation under partially denaturing conditions is a downhill polymerization. *Biochemistry*, 43, 7365-81.
- IQBAL, K., LIU, F., GONG, C. X. & GRUNDKE-IQBAL, I. 2010. Tau in Alzheimer disease and related tauopathies. *Curr Alzheimer Res*, 7, 656-64.
- JACOBSON, D. R., MCFARLIN, D. E., KANE, I. & BUXBAUM, J. N. 1992. Transthyretin Pro55, a variant associated with early-onset, aggressive, diffuse amyloidosis with cardiac and neurologic involvement. *Hum Genet*, 89, 353-6.
- JACOBSON, D. R., PASTORE, R., POOL, S., MALENDOWICZ, S., KANE, I., SHIVJI, A., EMBURY, S. H., BALLAS, S. K. & BUXBAUM, J. N. 1996. Revised transthyretin Ile 122 allele frequency in African-Americans. *Hum Genet*, 98, 236-8.
- JARRETT, J. T., BERGER, E. P. & LANSBURY, P. T., JR. 1993. The carboxy terminus of the beta amyloid protein is critical for the seeding of amyloid formation: implications for the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Biochemistry*, 32, 4693-7.
- JARRETT, J. T. & LANSBURY, P. T., JR. 1992. Amyloid fibril formation requires a chemically discriminating nucleation event: studies of an amyloidogenic sequence from the bacterial protein OsmB. *Biochemistry*, 31, 12345-52.
- JARRETT, J. T. & LANSBURY, P. T., JR. 1993. Seeding "one-dimensional crystallization" of amyloid: a pathogenic mechanism in Alzheimer's disease and scrapie? *Cell*, 73, 1055-8.
- JIANG, X., SMITH, C. S., PETRASSI, H. M., HAMMARSTROM, P., WHITE, J. T., SACCHETTINI, J. C. & KELLY, J. W. 2001. An engineered transthyretin monomer that is nonamyloidogenic, unless it is partially denatured. *Biochemistry*, 40, 11442-52.
- JIN, M., SHEPARDSON, N., YANG, T., CHEN, G., WALSH, D. & SELKOE, D. J. 2011. Soluble amyloid beta-protein dimers isolated from Alzheimer cortex directly induce Tau hyperphosphorylation and neuritic degeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108, 5819-24.
- JONSSON, A., WALLBERG, H., HERNE, N., STAHL, S. & FREJD, F. Y. 2009. Generation of tumournecrosis-factor-alpha-specific affibody molecules capable of blocking receptor binding in vitro. *Biotechnol Appl Biochem*, 54, 93-103.
- JONSSON, U., FAGERSTAM, L., IVARSSON, B., JOHNSSON, B., KARLSSON, R., LUNDH, K., LOFAS, S., PERSSON, B., ROOS, H., RONNBERG, I. & ET AL. 1991. Real-time biospecific interaction analysis using surface plasmon resonance and a sensor chip technology. *Biotechniques*, 11, 620-7.
- KABAT, E. A., MOORE, D. H. & LANDOW, H. 1942. An electrophoretic study of the protein components in cerebrospinal fluid and their relationship to the serum proteins. *J Clin Invest*, 21, 571-7.
- KALARIA, R. N., GALLOWAY, P. G. & PERRY, G. 1991. Widespread serum amyloid P immunoreactivity in cortical amyloid deposits and the neurofibrillary pathology of Alzheimer's disease and other degenerative disorders. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, 17, 189-201.

- KALARIA, R. N., GOLDE, T., KROON, S. N. & PERRY, G. 1993. Serine protease inhibitor antithrombin III and its messenger RNA in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol, 143, 886-93.
- KARLSTROM, A. & NYGREN, P. A. 2001. Dual labeling of a binding protein allows for specific fluorescence detection of native protein. *Anal Biochem*, 295, 22-30.
- KASAI, S., OHGA, Y., MOCHIZUKI, M., NISHI, N., KADOYA, Y. & NOMIZU, M. 2004. Multifunctional peptide fibrils for biomedical materials. *Biopolymers*, 76, 27-33.
- KAYED, R., HEAD, E., SARSOZA, F., SAING, T., COTMAN, C. W., NECULA, M., MARGOL, L., WU, J., BREYDO, L., THOMPSON, J. L., RASOOL, S., GURLO, T., BUTLER, P. & GLABE, C. G. 2007. Fibril specific, conformation dependent antibodies recognize a generic epitope common to amyloid fibrils and fibrillar oligomers that is absent in prefibrillar oligomers. *Mol Neurodegener*, 2, 18.
- KAYED, R., HEAD, E., THOMPSON, J. L., MCINTIRE, T. M., MILTON, S. C., COTMAN, C. W. & GLABE, C. G. 2003. Common structure of soluble amyloid oligomers implies common mechanism of pathogenesis. *Science*, 300, 486-9.
- KAYED, R. & LASAGNA-REEVES, C. A. 2013. Molecular mechanisms of amyloid oligomers toxicity. J Alzheimers Dis, 33 Suppl 1, S67-78.
- KLYUBIN, I., BETTS, V., WELZEL, A. T., BLENNOW, K., ZETTERBERG, H., WALLIN, A., LEMERE, C. A., CULLEN, W. K., PENG, Y., WISNIEWSKI, T., SELKOE, D. J., ANWYL, R., WALSH, D. M. & ROWAN, M. J. 2008. Amyloid beta protein dimer-containing human CSF disrupts synaptic plasticity: prevention by systemic passive immunization. *J Neurosci*, 28, 4231-7.
- KNOWLES, T. P., FITZPATRICK, A. W., MEEHAN, S., MOTT, H. R., VENDRUSCOLO, M., DOBSON, C. M. & WELLAND, M. E. 2007. Role of intermolecular forces in defining material properties of protein nanofibrils. *Science*, 318, 1900-3.
- KNOWLES, T. P. & MEZZENGA, R. 2016. Amyloid fibrils as building blocks for natural and artificial functional materials. *Adv Mater*, 28, 6546-61.
- KODALI, R. & WETZEL, R. 2007. Polymorphism in the intermediates and products of amyloid assembly. *Curr Opin Struct Biol*, 17, 48-57.
- KUPERSTEIN, I., BROERSEN, K., BENILOVA, I., ROZENSKI, J., JONCKHEERE, W., DEBULPAEP, M., VANDERSTEEN, A., SEGERS-NOLTEN, I., VAN DER WERF, K., SUBRAMANIAM, V., BRAEKEN, D., CALLEWAERT, G., BARTIC, C., D'HOOGE, R., MARTINS, I. C., ROUSSEAU, F., SCHYMKOWITZ, J. & DE STROOPER, B. 2010. Neurotoxicity of Alzheimer's disease Abeta peptides is induced by small changes in the Abeta42 to Abeta40 ratio. *Embo j*, 29, 3408-20.
- LAI, Z., COLON, W. & KELLY, J. W. 1996. The acid-mediated denaturation pathway of transthyretin yields a conformational intermediate that can self-assemble into amyloid. *Biochemistry*, 35, 6470-82.
- LAMMICH, S., KOJRO, E., POSTINA, R., GILBERT, S., PFEIFFER, R., JASIONOWSKI, M., HAASS, C. & FAHRENHOLZ, F. 1999. Constitutive and regulated alpha-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by a disintegrin metalloprotease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A, 96, 3922-7.
- LANCASTER, A. K., BARDILL, J. P., TRUE, H. L. & MASEL, J. 2010. The spontaneous appearance rate of the yeast prion [PSI+] and its implications for the evolution of the evolvability properties of the [PSI+] system. *Genetics*, 184, 393-400.
- LASHUEL, H. A., WURTH, C., WOO, L. & KELLY, J. W. 1999. The most pathogenic transthyretin variant, L55P, forms amyloid fibrils under acidic conditions and protofilaments under physiological conditions. *Biochemistry*, 38, 13560-73.
- LEE, J., RETAMAL, C., CUITINO, L., CARUANO-YZERMANS, A., SHIN, J. E., VAN KERKHOF, P., MARZOLO, M. P. & BU, G. 2008. Adaptor protein sorting nexin 17 regulates amyloid precursor protein trafficking and processing in the early endosomes. *J Biol Chem*, 283, 11501-8.
- LEE, S. J., NAM, E., LEE, H. J., SAVELIEFF, M. G. & LIM, M. H. 2017. Towards an understanding of amyloid-beta oligomers: characterization, toxicity mechanisms, and inhibitors. *Chem Soc Rev*, 46, 310-323.
- LEHNINGER, A., NELSON, D. L. & COX, M. M. 1992. *Principles of Biochemistry*, New York, Worth Publishers, Inc.,.

- LENDEL, C., BJERRING, M., DUBNOVITSKY, A., KELLY, R. T., FILIPPOV, A., ANTZUTKIN, O. N., NIELSEN, N. C. & HÄRD, T. 2014. A hexameric peptide barrel as building block of amyloid-beta protofibrils. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl*, 53, 12756-60.
- LESNÉ, S., KOH, M. T., KOTILINEK, L., KAYED, R., GLABE, C. G., YANG, A., GALLAGHER, M. & ASHE, K. H. 2006. A specific amyloid-beta protein assembly in the brain impairs memory. *Nature*, 440, 352-7.
- LI, D., FURUKAWA, H., DENG, H., LIU, C., YAGHI, O. M. & EISENBERG, D. S. 2014. Designed amyloid fibers as materials for selective carbon dioxide capture. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 111, 191-6.
- LIAO, L., CHENG, D., WANG, J., DUONG, D. M., LOSIK, T. G., GEARING, M., REES, H. D., LAH, J. J., LEVEY, A. I. & PENG, J. 2004. Proteomic characterization of postmortem amyloid plaques isolated by laser capture microdissection. *J Biol Chem*, 279, 37061-8.
- LINDBORG, M., DUBNOVITSKY, A., OLESEN, K., BJORKMAN, T., ABRAHMSEN, L., FELDWISCH, J. & HÄRD, T. 2013. High-affinity binding to staphylococcal protein A by an engineered dimeric Affibody molecule. *Protein Eng Des Sel*, 26, 635-44.
- LU, J. X., QIANG, W., YAU, W. M., SCHWIETERS, C. D., MEREDITH, S. C. & TYCKO, R. 2013. Molecular structure of beta-amyloid fibrils in Alzheimer's disease brain tissue. *Cell*, 154, 1257-68.
- LUE, L. F., KUO, Y. M., ROHER, A. E., BRACHOVA, L., SHEN, Y., SUE, L., BEACH, T., KURTH, J. H., RYDEL, R. E. & ROGERS, J. 1999. Soluble amyloid beta peptide concentration as a predictor of synaptic change in Alzheimer's disease. *Am J Pathol*, 155, 853-62.
- LUHESHI, L. M., HOYER, W., DE BARROS, T. P., VAN DIJK HARD, I., BRORSSON, A. C., MACAO, B., PERSSON, C., CROWTHER, D. C., LOMAS, D. A., STAHL, S., DOBSON, C. M. & HÄRD, T. 2010. Sequestration of the Abeta peptide prevents toxicity and promotes degradation in vivo. *PLoS Biol*, 8, e1000334.
- LUHRS, T., RITTER, C., ADRIAN, M., RIEK-LOHER, D., BOHRMANN, B., DOBELI, H., SCHUBERT, D. & RIEK, R. 2005. 3D structure of Alzheimer's amyloid-beta(1-42) fibrils. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 17342-7.
- MAJI, S. K., PERRIN, M. H., SAWAYA, M. R., JESSBERGER, S., VADODARIA, K., RISSMAN, R. A., SINGRU, P. S., NILSSON, K. P., SIMON, R., SCHUBERT, D., EISENBERG, D., RIVIER, J., SAWCHENKO, P., VALE, W. & RIEK, R. 2009. Functional amyloids as natural storage of peptide hormones in pituitary secretory granules. *Science*, 325, 328-32.
- MAURER, M. S., SCHWARTZ, J. H., GUNDAPANENI, B., ELLIOTT, P. M., MERLINI, G., WADDINGTON-CRUZ, M., KRISTEN, A. V., GROGAN, M., WITTELES, R., DAMY, T., DRACHMAN, B. M., SHAH, S. J., HANNA, M., JUDGE, D. P., BARSDORF, A. I., HUBER, P., PATTERSON, T. A., RILEY, S., SCHUMACHER, J., STEWART, M., SULTAN, M. B. & RAPEZZI, C. 2018. Tafamidis treatment for patients with transthyretin amyloid cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med, 379, 1007-1016.
- MCGEER, P. L., KLEGERIS, A., WALKER, D. G., YASUHARA, O. & MCGEER, E. G. 1994. Pathological proteins in senile plaques. *Tohoku J Exp Med*, 174, 269-77.
- MCKEAGE, K. 2009. Memantine: a review of its use in moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease. CNS Drugs, 23, 881-97.
- MCLEAN, C. A., CHERNY, R. A., FRASER, F. W., FULLER, S. J., SMITH, M. J., BEYREUTHER, K., BUSH, A. I. & MASTERS, C. L. 1999. Soluble pool of Abeta amyloid as a determinant of severity of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann Neurol*, 46, 860-6.
- MEDVEDEV, A., BUNEEVA, O., KOPYLOV, A., GNEDENKO, O., IVANOV, A., ZGODA, V. & MAKAROV, A. A. 2015. Amyloid-binding proteins: affinity-based separation, proteomic identification, and optical biosensor validation. *Methods Mol Biol*, 1295, 465-77.
- MEN, D., GUO, Y. C., ZHANG, Z. P., WEI, H. P., ZHOU, Y. F., CUI, Z. Q., LIANG, X. S., LI, K., LENG, Y., YOU, X. Y. & ZHANG, X. E. 2009. Seeding-induced self-assembling protein nanowires dramatically increase the sensitivity of immunoassays. *Nano Letters*, 9, 2246-2250.
- MI, H., MURUGANUJAN, A., CASAGRANDE, J. T. & THOMAS, P. D. 2013. Large-scale gene function analysis with the PANTHER classification system. *Nat Protoc*, 8, 1551-66.
- MIRECKA, E. A., FEUERSTEIN, S., GREMER, L., STOLDT, M., WILLBOLD, D. & HOYER, W. 2016. β-hairpin of Islet amyloid polypeptide bound to an aggregation inhibitor. *Sci. Rep.*
- MIRECKA, E. A., SHAYKHALISHAHI, H., GAUHAR, A., AKGÜL, Ş., LECHER, J., WILLBOLD, D., STOLDT, M. A. & HOYER, W. 2014. Sequestration of a β-hairpin for control of αsynuclein aggregation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 53, 4227-4230.

- MOKS, T., ABRAHMSEN, L., NILSSON, B., HELLMAN, U., SJOQUIST, J. & UHLEN, M. 1986. Staphylococcal protein A consists of five IgG-binding domains. *Eur J Biochem*, 156, 637-43.
- MURPHY, M. P. & LEVINE, H., 3RD 2010. Alzheimer's disease and the amyloid-beta peptide. J Alzheimers Dis, 19, 311-23.
- NELSON, R., SAWAYA, M. R., BALBIRNIE, M., MADSEN, A. O., RIEKEL, C., GROTHE, R. & EISENBERG, D. 2005. Structure of the cross-beta spine of amyloid-like fibrils. *Nature*, 435, 773-8.
- NIEMANTSVERDRIET, E., VALCKX, S., BJERKE, M. & ENGELBORGHS, S. 2017. Alzheimer's disease CSF biomarkers: clinical indications and rational use. *Acta Neurol Belg*, 117, 591-602.
- NILSSON, B., MOKS, T., JANSSON, B., ABRAHMSEN, L., ELMBLAD, A., HOLMGREN, E., HENRICHSON, C., JONES, T. A. & UHLEN, M. 1987. A synthetic IgG-binding domain based on staphylococcal protein A. *Protein Eng*, 1, 107-13.
- NORD, K., GUNNERIUSSON, E., RINGDAHL, J., STAHL, S., UHLÉN, M. & NYGREN, P. A. 1997. Binding proteins selected from combinatorial libraries of an alpha-helical bacterial receptor domain. *Nat Biotechnol*, 15, 772-7.
- NORD, K., NILSSON, J., NILSSON, B., UHLEN, M. & NYGREN, P. A. 1995. A combinatorial library of an alpha-helical bacterial receptor domain. *Protein Eng*, 8, 601-8.
- NORDLIE, M., SLETTEN, K., HUSBY, G. & RANLOV, P. J. 1988. A new prealbumin variant in familial amyloid cardiomyopathy of Danish origin. *Scand J Immunol*, 27, 119-22.
- NYGREN, P. A. 2008. Alternative binding proteins: affibody binding proteins developed from a small three-helix bundle scaffold. *Febs j*, 275, 2668-76.
- O'BRIEN, R. J. & WONG, P. C. 2011. Amyloid precursor protein processing and Alzheimer's disease. Annu Rev Neurosci, 34, 185-204.
- OLSÉN, A., ARNQVIST, A., HAMMAR, M. & NORMARK, S. 1993. Environmental regulation of curli production in Escherichia coli. *Infect Agents Dis*, 2, 272-4.
- PAULA-LIMA, A. C., TRICERRI, M. A., BRITO-MOREIRA, J., BOMFIM, T. R., OLIVEIRA, F. F., MAGDESIAN, M. H., GRINBERG, L. T., PANIZZUTTI, R. & FERREIRA, S. T. 2009. Human apolipoprotein A-I binds amyloid-beta and prevents Abeta-induced neurotoxicity. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 41, 1361-70.
- PEDERSEN, J. S., DIKOV, D., FLINK, J. L., HJULER, H. A., CHRISTIANSEN, G. & OTZEN, D. E. 2006. The changing face of glucagon fibrillation: structural polymorphism and conformational imprinting. J Mol Biol, 355, 501-23.
- PISALYAPUT, K. & TENNER, A. J. 2008. Complement component C1q inhibits beta-amyloid- and serum amyloid P-induced neurotoxicity via caspase- and calpain-independent mechanisms. J Neurochem, 104, 696-707.
- QIU, C., KIVIPELTO, M. & VON STRAUSS, E. 2009. Epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease: occurrence, determinants, and strategies toward intervention. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci*, 11, 111-28.
- QUINTAS, A., SARAIVA, M. J. & BRITO, R. M. 1997. The amyloidogenic potential of transthyretin variants correlates with their tendency to aggregate in solution. *FEBS Lett*, 418, 297-300.
- QUINTAS, A., SARAIVA, M. J. & BRITO, R. M. 1999. The tetrameric protein transthyretin dissociates to a non-native monomer in solution. A novel model for amyloidogenesis. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 32943-9.
- RAMSTRÖM, M., PALMBLAD, M., MARKIDES, K. E., HAKANSSON, P. & BERGQUIST, J. 2003. Protein identification in cerebrospinal fluid using packed capillary liquid chromatography Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry. *Proteomics*, 3, 184-90.
- RIZK, M. & TUZMEN, S. 2017. Update on the clinical utility of an RNA interference-based treatment: focus on Patisiran. *Pharmgenomics Pers Med*, 10, 267-278.
- ROBBINS, J. 2002. Transthyretin from discovery to now. Clin Chem Lab Med, 40, 1183-90.
- RÖNNMARK, J., GRONLUND, H., UHLEN, M. & NYGREN, P. A. 2002. Human immunoglobulin A (IgA)-specific ligands from combinatorial engineering of protein A. *Eur J Biochem*, 269, 2647-55.
- ROYCHAUDHURI, R., YANG, M., HOSHI, M. M. & TEPLOW, D. B. 2009. Amyloid beta-protein assembly and Alzheimer disease. *J Biol Chem*, 284, 4749-53.
- SAELICES, L., CHUNG, K., LEE, J. H., COHN, W., WHITELEGGE, J. P., BENSON, M. D. & EISENBERG, D. S. 2018. Amyloid seeding of transthyretin by ex vivo cardiac fibrils and its inhibition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 115, E6741-e6750.
- SAJANLAL, P. R., SREEPRASAD, T. S., SAMAL, A. K. & PRADEEP, T. 2011. Anisotropic nanomaterials: structure, growth, assembly, and functions. *Nano Rev*, 2.

- SALZA, R., LETHIAS, C. & RICARD-BLUM, S. 2017. The multimerization state of the amyloid-beta42 amyloid peptide governs its interaction network with the extracellular matrix. J Alzheimers Dis, 56, 991-1005.
- SANDBERG, A., LUHESHI, L. M., SOLLVANDER, S., PEREIRA DE BARROS, T., MACAO, B., KNOWLES, T. P., BIVERSTAL, H., LENDEL, C., EKHOLM-PETTERSON, F., DUBNOVITSKY, A., LANNFELT, L., DOBSON, C. M. & HÄRD, T. 2010. Stabilization of neurotoxic Alzheimer amyloid-beta oligomers by protein engineering. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A, 107, 15595-600.
- SANDERS, S. L., JENNINGS, J., CANUTESCU, A., LINK, A. J. & WEIL, P. A. 2002. Proteomics of the eukaryotic transcription machinery: identification of proteins associated with components of yeast TFIID by multidimensional mass spectrometry. *Mol Cell Biol*, 22, 4723-38.
- SANDWALL, E., O'CALLAGHAN, P., ZHANG, X., LINDAHL, U., LANNFELT, L. & LI, J. P. 2010. Heparan sulfate mediates amyloid-beta internalization and cytotoxicity. *Glycobiology*, 20, 533-41.
- SAUNDERS, A. M., STRITTMATTER, W. J., SCHMECHEL, D., GEORGE-HYSLOP, P. H., PERICAK-VANCE, M. A., JOO, S. H., ROSI, B. L., GUSELLA, J. F., CRAPPER-MACLACHLAN, D. R., ALBERTS, M. J. & ET AL. 1993. Association of apolipoprotein E allele epsilon 4 with late-onset familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 43, 1467-72.
- SCHMUCK, B., SANDGREN, M. & HÄRD, T. 2017. A fine-tuned composition of protein nanofibrils yields an upgraded functionality of displayed antibody binding domains. *Biotechnol J*, 12.
- SCHUCK, P. 1997. Use of surface plasmon resonance to probe the equilibrium and dynamic aspects of interactions between biological macromolecules. *Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct*, 26, 541-66.
- SEHLIN, D., FANG, X. T., CATO, L., ANTONI, G., LANNFELT, L. & SYVANEN, S. 2016. Antibodybased PET imaging of amyloid beta in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Commun*, 7, 10759.
- SEKIJIMA, Y. 2015. Transthyretin (ATTR) amyloidosis: clinical spectrum, molecular pathogenesis and disease-modifying treatments. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 86, 1036-43.
- SELKOE, D. J. 2001. Alzheimer's disease: genes, proteins, and therapy. Physiol Rev, 81, 741-66.
- SENGUPTA, U., NILSON, A. N. & KAYED, R. 2016. The role of amyloid-beta oligomers in toxicity, propagation, and immunotherapy. *EBioMedicine*, 6, 42-49.
- SERIO, T. R., CASHIKAR, A. G., KOWAL, A. S., SAWICKI, G. J., MOSLEHI, J. J., SERPELL, L., ARNSDORF, M. F. & LINDQUIST, S. L. 2000. Nucleated conformational conversion and the replication of conformational information by a prion determinant. *Science*, 289, 1317-21.
- SERIO, T. R. & LINDQUIST, S. L. 1999. [PSI+]: an epigenetic modulator of translation termination efficiency. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 15, 661-703.
- SERPELL, L. 2014. Amyloid structure. Essays Biochem, 56, 1-10.
- SHANKAR, G. M., LI, S., MEHTA, T. H., GARCIA-MUNOZ, A., SHEPARDSON, N. E., SMITH, I., BRETT, F. M., FARRELL, M. A., ROWAN, M. J., LEMERE, C. A., REGAN, C. M., WALSH, D. M., SABATINI, B. L. & SELKOE, D. J. 2008. Amyloid-beta protein dimers isolated directly from Alzheimer's brains impair synaptic plasticity and memory. *Nat Med*, 14, 837-42.
- SILVA, R. F., ARAUJO, D. R., SILVA, E. R., ANDO, R. A. & ALVES, W. A. 2013. L-diphenylalanine microtubes as a potential drug-delivery system: characterization, release kinetics, and cytotoxicity. *Langmuir*, 29, 10205-12.
- SIPE, J. D., BENSON, M. D., BUXBAUM, J. N., IKEDA, S., MERLINI, G., SARAIVA, M. J. M. & WESTERMARK, P. 2016. Amyloid fibril proteins and amyloidosis: chemical identification and clinical classification International Society of Amyloidosis 2016 Nomenclature Guidelines. *Amyloid*, 23, 209-213.
- SIPE, J. D. & COHEN, A. S. 2000. Review: history of the amyloid fibril. J Struct Biol, 130, 88-98.
- SORENSEN, J., SANDBERG, D., SANDSTROM, M., WENNBORG, A., FELDWISCH, J., TOLMACHEV, V., ASTROM, G., LUBBERINK, M., GARSKE-ROMAN, U., CARLSSON, J. & LINDMAN, H. 2014. First-in-human molecular imaging of HER2 expression in breast cancer metastases using the 1111n-ABY-025 affibody molecule. J Nucl Med, 55, 730-5.
- ST GEORGE-HYSLOP, P. H., TANZI, R. E., POLINSKY, R. J., HAINES, J. L., NEE, L., WATKINS, P. C., MYERS, R. H., FELDMAN, R. G., POLLEN, D., DRACHMAN, D. & ET AL. 1987. The genetic defect causing familial Alzheimer's disease maps on chromosome 21. *Science*, 235, 885-90.

- STRITTMATTER, W. J., SAUNDERS, A. M., SCHMECHEL, D., PERICAK-VANCE, M., ENGHILD, J., SALVESEN, G. S. & ROSES, A. D. 1993. Apolipoprotein E: high-avidity binding to betaamyloid and increased frequency of type 4 allele in late-onset familial Alzheimer disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 1977-81.
- SUHR, O. B., HERLENIUS, G., FRIMAN, S. & ERICZON, B. G. 2000. Liver transplantation for hereditary transthyretin amyloidosis. *Liver Transpl*, 6, 263-76.
- TANSKANEN, M., PEURALINNA, T., POLVIKOSKI, T., NOTKOLA, I. L., SULKAVA, R., HARDY, J., SINGLETON, A., KIURU-ENARI, S., PAETAU, A., TIENARI, P. J. & MYLLYKANGAS, L. 2008. Senile systemic amyloidosis affects 25% of the very aged and associates with genetic variation in alpha2-macroglobulin and tau: a population-based autopsy study. Ann Med, 40, 232-9.
- TRUE, H. L. & LINDQUIST, S. L. 2000. A yeast prion provides a mechanism for genetic variation and phenotypic diversity. *Nature*, 407, 477-83.
- TYCKO, R., SCIARRETTA, K. L., ORGEL, J. P. & MEREDITH, S. C. 2009. Evidence for novel betasheet structures in Iowa mutant beta-amyloid fibrils. *Biochemistry*, 48, 6072-84.
- TYEDMERS, J., MOGK, A. & BUKAU, B. 2010. Cellular strategies for controlling protein aggregation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 11, 777-88.
- UHLÉN, M., FAGERBERG, L., HALLSTROM, B. M., LINDSKOG, C., OKSVOLD, P., MARDINOGLU, A., SIVERTSSON, A., KAMPF, C., SJOSTEDT, E., ASPLUND, A., OLSSON, I., EDLUND, K., LUNDBERG, E., NAVANI, S., SZIGYARTO, C. A., ODEBERG, J., DJUREINOVIC, D., TAKANEN, J. O., HOBER, S., ALM, T., EDQVIST, P. H., BERLING, H., TEGEL, H., MULDER, J., ROCKBERG, J., NILSSON, P., SCHWENK, J. M., HAMSTEN, M., VON FEILITZEN, K., FORSBERG, M., PERSSON, L., JOHANSSON, F., ZWAHLEN, M., VON HEIJNE, G., NIELSEN, J. & PONTEN, F. 2015. Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. *Science*, 347, 1260419.
- VASSAR, P. S. & CULLING, C. F. 1959. Fluorescent stains, with special reference to amyloid and connective tissues. *Arch Pathol*, 68, 487-98.
- VIDAL, O., LONGIN, R., PRIGENT-COMBARET, C., DOREL, C., HOOREMAN, M. & LEJEUNE, P. 1998. Isolation of an Escherichia coli K-12 mutant strain able to form biofilms on inert surfaces: involvement of a new ompR allele that increases curli expression. *J Bacteriol*, 180, 2442-9.
- WALSH, D. M., KLYUBIN, I., FADEEVA, J. V., CULLEN, W. K., ANWYL, R., WOLFE, M. S., ROWAN, M. J. & SELKOE, D. J. 2002. Naturally secreted oligomers of amyloid beta protein potently inhibit hippocampal long-term potentiation in vivo. *Nature*, 416, 535-9.
- WALSH, D. M., LOMAKIN, A., BENEDEK, G. B., CONDRON, M. M. & TEPLOW, D. B. 1997. Amyloid beta-protein fibrillogenesis. Detection of a protofibrillar intermediate. *J Biol Chem*, 272, 22364-72.
- WALSH, D. M. & SELKOE, D. J. 2007. A beta oligomers a decade of discovery. J Neurochem, 101, 1172-84.
- WANG, S., WANG, R., CHEN, L., BENNETT, D. A., DICKSON, D. W. & WANG, D. S. 2010. Expression and functional profiling of neprilysin, insulin-degrading enzyme, and endothelinconverting enzyme in prospectively studied elderly and Alzheimer's brain. J Neurochem, 115, 47-57.
- WEISNER, B. & ROETHIG, H. J. 1983. The concentration of prealbumin in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), indicator of CSF circulation disorders. *Eur Neurol*, 22, 96-105.
- WESTERMARK, P., SLETTEN, K., JOHANSSON, B. & CORNWELL, G. G., 3RD 1990. Fibril in senile systemic amyloidosis is derived from normal transthyretin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 87, 2843-5.
- YAMAMOTO, A. & SIMONSEN, A. 2011. Alfy-dependent elimination of aggregated proteins by macroautophagy: can there be too much of a good thing? *Autophagy*, 7, 346-50.
- YANG, T., O'MALLEY, T. T., KANMERT, D., JERECIC, J., ZIESKE, L. R., ZETTERBERG, H., HYMAN, B. T., WALSH, D. M. & SELKOE, D. J. 2015. A highly sensitive novel immunoassay specifically detects low levels of soluble Abeta oligomers in human cerebrospinal fluid. *Alzheimers Res Ther*, 7, 14.
- YERBURY, J. J., POON, S., MEEHAN, S., THOMPSON, B., KUMITA, J. R., DOBSON, C. M. & WILSON, M. R. 2007. The extracellular chaperone clusterin influences amyloid formation and toxicity by interacting with prefibrillar structures. *Faseb j*, 21, 2312-22.
- YIANNOPOULOU, K. G. & PAPAGEORGIOU, S. G. 2013. Current and future treatments for Alzheimer's disease. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*, 6, 19-33.

ZETTERBERG, H. & BLENNOW, K. 2013. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease: more to come? *J Alzheimers Dis*, 33 Suppl 1, S361-9.

Popular science summary

Proteins are the most fundamental molecules in living organisms and are involved in almost all biological processes. They are synthesized on ribosomes as linear amino acids chains. These chains must then be folded into the correct conformation, called native fold of a protein, in order to gain functional activity. However, due to mutations, increased production or changes in the cellular microenvironment, proteins can be misfolded. If these misfolded proteins escape the cellular control system that normally remove the misfolded proteins, proteins can aggregate into a highly ordered structure called amyloid fibrils. Deposition of amyloid fibrils in tissue is linked to several diseases, for examples, Alzheimer's disease (AD) and transthyretin (ATTR) amyloidosis. To provide the best possible treatments, a more complete understanding of the disease development and the design of improved diagnostic methods are essential.

In this thesis, we developed new research tools and method for the detection of protein aggregates that caused AD and ATTR amyloidosis. These developments have possible applications in the diagnosis of these diseases as well as therapeutics. Additionally, we identified many proteins in biofluid that interact with AD-causing protein aggregates. This knowledge will help us to gain a better understanding of AD.

Acknowledgements

I am indebted to many people for their contribution in many different ways during this journey, and I would like to take this opportunity to thank them.

Torleif Härd, for the opportunity of this PhD education, for your excellent scientific guidance (I wish I were under your uninterrupted guidance till the end!), and for taking time out of your busy schedule to read the thesis.

Mats Sandgren, for taking all the responsibilities on your shoulder during the last two and half years when Torleif got busy with his Dean' duties, for being understanding and allowing me to work freely.

Gunilla Westermark, for being my co-supervisor, for sharing your vast knowledge of amyloid, for your paramount help with $A\beta$ fibril-binding proteins project and immunoassay project, and guidance while writing this thesis.

Christofer Lendel, for introducing me to protein aggregates and practical sciences. From research training project to the first year of my PhD education your supervision with great motivation was invaluable. Thanks!

Per Westermark, for ATTR patient's material and antibodies used in paper II. You also initiated paper IV at the amyloid meeting in BMC. Unfortunately, our TTR seeding project did not work; however, I have learned a lot (that I believe!) from you through different meetings. Thanks!

Benjamin, you have helped me with countless things throughout these years. I could not expect more from a fellow PhD. Thanks!

Henrik Zetterberg for kindly providing cerebrospinal fluid samples, for sweet collaboration and valuable comments improving paper IV.

My co-authors, Hanna, John and Stefan at KTH, and Elisabet and Elin at Affibody AB, thanks for the fruitful collaboration.

I must thank all seniors' researchers at the Sandgren & Ståhlberg group, Jerry for all scientific and non-scientific discussion over the lunch and taking good care during course work at MAX IV lab, Henrik for your effort in immunoassay project (yet to finish!), Nils for all technical supports, Saied for being so cooperative; Miao and Micke for thoughtful discussion.

Current PhD student, project students, and guest at C300 corridor, Bing (slow down, man! you still have a year), Jule, Topi (the late-night ghost at lab!), Mikolaj, Jonas, Pernilla, Nisha, and Shabih for creating such an excellent working environment; Jhonny and Fredric at D200 corridor for your aid with translating lab manual and presentation during general and organic chemistry teaching.

Maa and Baba, whom this thesis is dedicated, for always being there for me, for your love, encouragement, and prayer. *Baba*, I would not be where I am today without you being on my side. I believe that you have done more than a father could do for his son. This thesis is the gain of your beliefs and efforts.

Morsheda (my elder sister, but I probably never let a chance go to make you my younger!) for being so available for Maa while you have your own family, which allowed me to focus at my work.

My wife, Safia, for being understanding, for not being too mad at me, especially during writing this thesis when I have been spending days and nights by sitting at computer, for making me social and lively.
Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2018:58